Psychology-informed Recommender Systems

Suggested Citation: Elisabeth Lex, Dominik Kowald, Paul Seitlinger, Thi Ngoc Trang Tran, Alexander Felfernig and Markus Schedl (2021), "Psychology-informed Recommender Systems", : Vol. xx, No. xx, pp 1–XX. DOI: 10.1561/XXXXXXXX.

Elisabeth Lex

Graz University of Technology elisabeth.lex@tugraz.at

Dominik Kowald

Know-Center GmbH dkowald@know-center.at

Paul Seitlinger

Tallinn University pseiti@tlu.ee

Thi Ngoc Trang Tran

Graz University of Technology ttrang@ist.tugraz.at

Alexander Felfernig

Graz University of Technology alexander.felfernig@ist.tugraz.at

Markus Schedl

Johannes Kepler University Linz and Linz Institute of Technology, AI Lab markus.schedl@jku.at

> the essence of knowledge Boston — Delft

This article may be used only for the purpose of research, teaching, and/or private study. Commercial use or systematic downloading (by robots or other automatic processes) is prohibited without explicit Publisher approval.

Contents

1	Introduction												
	1.1	Motivation	3										
	1.2	Main Approaches to Recommender Systems	5										
	1.3	Selected Recommender Systems Software and Datasets	6										
	1.4	Survey Method and Research Scope	7										
2	Psy	chology-informed Recommendation Approaches	18										
	2.1	Cognition-inspired Recommender Systems	18										
	2.2	Personality-aware Recommender Systems	31										
	2.3	Affect-aware Recommender Systems	40										
3	Rec	ommender Systems and											
	Hun	nan Decision Making	46										
	3.1	Decoy Items	48										
	3.2	Serial Position Effects	49										
	3.3	Framing Effects	52										
	3.4	Anchoring Effects	52										
	3.5	Nudging	53										
	3.6	Discussion	55										
4	Use	r-centric Recommender Systems Evaluation	57										
	4.1	Psychological Aspects of User Experience	58										

Re	References							
5	Con	clusion and Suggestions for Future Research	69					
	4.3	Discussion						
	4.2 Designing User Studies for Recommender Systems and Ex- isting Evaluation Frameworks							
	4.0	Designing Heavy Studies for Deservation day Systems and Fu						

Psychology-informed Recommender Systems

Elisabeth Lex¹, Dominik Kowald², Paul Seitlinger³, Thi Ngoc Trang Tran¹, Alexander Felfernig¹ and Markus Schedl⁴

¹Graz University of Technology; elisabeth.lex@tugraz.at

²Know-Center GmbH; dkowald@know-center.at

³ Tallinn University; pseiti@tlu.ee

¹Graz University of Technology; ttrang@ist.tugraz.at

¹Graz University of Technology; alexander.felfernig@ist.tugraz.at

⁴Johannes Kepler University Linz and Linz Institute of Technology; markus.schedl@jku.at

ABSTRACT

Personalized recommender systems have become indispensable in today's online world. Most of today's recommendation algorithms are data-driven and based on behavioral data. While such systems can produce useful recommendations, they are often uninterpretable, black-box models, which do not incorporate the underlying cognitive reasons for user behavior in the algorithms' design. The aim of this survey is to present a thorough review of the state of the art of recommender systems that leverage psychological constructs and theories to model and predict user behavior and improve the recommendation process. We call such systems psychology-informed recommender systems. The survey identifies three categories of psychology-informed recommender systems: cognition-inspired, personality-aware, and affectaware recommender systems. Moreover, for each category, we highlight domains, in which psychological theory plays a

Elisabeth Lex, Dominik Kowald, Paul Seitlinger, Thi Ngoc Trang Tran, Alexander Felfernig and Markus Schedl (2021), "Psychology-informed Recommender Systems", : Vol. xx, No. xx, pp 1–XX. DOI: 10.1561/XXXXXXXX.

key role and is therefore considered in the recommendation process. As recommender systems are fundamental tools to support human decision making, we also discuss selected decision-psychological phenomena that impact the interaction between a user and a recommender. Besides, we discuss related work that investigates the evaluation of recommender systems from the user perspective and highlight user-centric evaluation frameworks. We discuss potential research tasks for future work at the end of this survey.

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

In the past twenty years, research on recommender systems has emerged as a growing field within computer science (Ricci *et al.*, 2011). The emergence of online marketplaces, online social networks, online collaboration platforms, and online social information systems (Caverlee *et al.*, 2010) has created a need to support users with recommendations to help them cope with the increase of information and items online (Liu *et al.*, 2014).

A large amount of work exists that has tackled recommender systems research from a broad range of perspectives. Resources like the *Recommender Systems Handbook* (Ricci *et al.*, 2015) or *Recommender systems: An Introduction* (Jannach *et al.*, 2010) give a comprehensive overview of the field. So do review articles such as (Jannach *et al.*, 2012). Recent surveys provide a concise overview of explainable recommendations (Zhang, Chen, *et al.*, 2020), deep learning in recommender systems (Xu *et al.*, 2020), adversarial recommender systems (Deldjoo *et al.*, 2021b) or conversational recommender systems (Jannach *et al.*, 2020).

Early work on recommender systems was motivated by the observa-

tion that humans tend to base their decisions on the recommendations provided by their social surrounding (Ricci et al., 2011). Correspondingly, the first algorithms developed as recommender systems aimed to mimic this behavior (Resnick and Varian, 1997; Ricci et al., 2011). In the early 2000s, the use of psychological models in recommender systems research has gained traction. Pioneering work was carried out by Gustavo Gonzalez, Timo Saari, and Judith Masthoff, which exploited the psychological characteristics of users to improve the recommendation process. To that end, Gonzales et al. (González et al., 2002; González et al., 2004) considered emotional aspects of the user to generate personalized recommendations. Saari et al. (Saari et al., 2004b; Turpeinen and Saari, 2004; Saari et al., 2004a; Saari et al., 2004a; Saari et al., 2005) designed recommender systems that incorporate a user's emotion and attention, as well as other related constructs, to deliver recommendations (Nunes, 2008). Masthoff et al. (Masthoff, 2004b; Masthoff, 2004a; Masthoff, 2005; Masthoff and Gatt, 2006), assessed the user satisfaction of individual users and predicted group satisfaction when recommending sequences of items to user groups. Their intuition was that the first few recommendations in a list of recommendations influence the mood of the user. That mood, in turn, can impact the views the user has about the next items in the recommendation list (Nunes, 2008). Felfernig et al. (2007) used insights from decision psychology to gain a deeper understanding of online buyer behavior and to improve knowledge-based recommender systems.

In the present survey article, we provide a review of research strands in the recommender systems community that enrich data-driven recommendation techniques with psychological constructs to design or improve recommender systems. We call such systems *psychology-informed recommender systems*.

This survey is organized as follows. We first give an introduction into common recommender systems methods in Section 1.2, and then, in Section 1.4, briefly describe our survey method and research scope. Next, in Section 2, we review related work on psychology-informed recommender systems, which we categorize into *cognition-inspired*, *personality-aware*, and *affect-aware* recommender systems. Also, in Section 3, we review works that investigate various decision-psychological phenomena that come into play when users interact with a recommender system. Besides, in Section 4, we discuss works that investigate recommender systems' evaluation from the user perspective. We conclude in Section 5 with key findings and possible directions for future work.

1.2 Main Approaches to Recommender Systems

The most prominent recommendation approaches are collaborative filtering (CF), content-based filtering (CBF), hybrid combinations of both (Ricci et al., 2015), as well as knowledge-based recommender systems (Burke, 2000b). CF (Schafer et al., 2007) exploits interactions between users and items such as ratings and creates a user-item matrix that is then used to predict missing ratings for pairs of users and items. CF then recommends the items with the highest predicted ratings, with which the target user has not yet interacted. One can distinguish between model-based CF and memory-based CF (Koren and Bell, 2015). In the case of model-based CF (Aggarwal, 2016), the algorithm first projects users and items into a low-dimensional space and then, finds similar users/items in this space. In the case of memory-based CF (Sarwar et al., 2001), CF computes similarities between users/items directly from the user-item matrix. Memory-based CF can be further divided into userbased CF and item-based CF, depending on whether recommendations are produced based on user or item similarity.

CBF exploits characteristic properties of items (e.g., movie genres) to recommend items with similar attributes as items the target user has liked in the past (Ricci *et al.*, 2015). For a recent overview of new trends in CBF, please refer to Lops *et al.*, 2019. Correspondingly, hybrid recommender systems (Burke, 2002) are, most commonly, a combination of collaborative and content-based methods. For example, when using CF in a cold-start scenario, a hybrid approach can incorporate CBF to predict items based on their features (Cremonesi *et al.*, 2011); Ricci *et al.*, 2011).

In contrast to CF and CBF, knowledge-based recommender systems (Burke, 2000b) do not require a user history. Instead, they make use of pre-existing knowledge about the user and the application domain to reason about potentially relevant items. One can distinguish between

Name	URL	Comments
LKPy	https://github.com/lenskit/lkpy	Python; classical models
Surprise	https://github.com/NicolasHug/Surprise	Python; classical models
pyRecLab	https://github.com/gasevi/pyreclab	Python; classical models
LibRec	https://github.com/guoguibing/librec	Java; classical models
Elliot	https://github.com/sisinflab/elliot	Python; classical and deep
		models
NeuRec	https://github.com/wubinzzu/NeuRec	Python; deep models
Spotlight	https://github.com/maciejkula/spotlight	Python; classical and deep
		models
Implicit	https://github.com/benfred/implicit	Python; for implicit-feedback
		datasets
TagRec	https://github.com/learning-layers/TagRec	Java; cognition-inspired and
		classical models

 Table 1.1: Overview of selected software for recommender systems.

two main types of knowledge-based recommender systems, namely, constraint-based recommender systems (Felfernig and Burke, 2008; Atas *et al.*, 2019) and case-based recommender systems (Lorenzi and Ricci, 2003; Burke, 2000a). In constraint-based recommender systems, explicitly defined constraints govern which items should be recommended to a user in a given context, whereas the constraints refer to the user and/or the item domain. Case-based recommender systems are early examples of psychology-informed recommender systems, which model reasoning as primarily memory-based (Leake, 2015). In this paper, they are, therefore, reviewed in more detail (see Section 2.1.4).

1.3 Selected Recommender Systems Software and Datasets

To facilitate getting started with recommender systems experiments, we provide an overview of relevant resources. Tables 1.1 and 1.2 give a non-exhaustive list of software¹ (libraries and open-source code repositories) and datasets, respectively.² We focus on the most popular resources

¹See also https://github.com/grahamjenson/list_of_recommender_systems & https://recommender-systems.com/resources/

 $^{^2 \}rm Group Lens'$ list of datasets: https://grouplens.org/datasets/, Julian McAuley's list: https://cseweb.ucsd.edu/~jmcauley/datasets.html

as well as on those that provide code and data relevant to psychologyinformed recommendation.

1.4 Survey Method and Research Scope

For this survey, we investigated research articles that appeared in relevant publication outlets in the fields of computer science, psychology, and human-computer-interaction. Regarding the scope of our review, we focus on papers that describe algorithms, techniques, and systems that exploit psychological features of the user for improving the recommendation process (see Table 1.5, Table 1.6, Table 1.8, and Table 1.9). Also, we visualize the reviewed papers as a timeline in Table 1.3, and Table 1.4 to show the evolution of techniques over time. Please note that we split the timeline visualization into periods from 1885 to 2010 and 2011 to 2021 due to space constraints.

The identification of papers for our survey was done according to the following strategy. We first considered the proceedings and volumes of a set of relevant conference series (e.g., User Modelling, Adaptation and Personalization, ACM Recommender Systems Conference, The Web Conference, ACM SIGIR Conference on Research and Development in Information Retrieval, ACM CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM Hypertext, IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence) and journals (e.g., User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, Transaction on Intelligent Information Systems, Cognitive Science, Journal of Consumer Research, IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing, Computers in Human Behavior, Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, ACM Transactions on Intelligent Information Systems) for articles that fall into the above-described scope. Additionally, we used the keywords "psychology recommender systems", "psychology informed recommender", "cognition recommender", "stereotypes recommender", "case-based recommender", "affective recommender", "emotion recommender", "personality recommender", "decision making recommender", "user-centric recommender", "user evaluation recommender", "user experience recommender", "nudging recommender systems", "persuasion recommender", "cognitive dissonance recommender", "interaction recommender", and

"interfaces recommender" to search for papers in Google Scholar. Using the resulting set of articles as a starting point, we followed the references of the retrieved articles to find additional papers.

A few survey works on the topic of psychological models in the context of recommendations already exist. When looking at these existing works, we find that some works on psychology-informed recommender systems are also summarized by Tkalcic and Chen (2015a) with respect to personality-based recommender systems, personality and learning styles (Graus and Ferwerda, 2019), and in (Tkalcic et al., 2011) in terms of affective-based systems. Additionally, Buder and Schwind (2012) discuss personalized recommender systems as well as psychological theories and models that describe learning processes and mechanisms in educational contexts. They, however, focus only on learning as a domain. Yoo et al. (2012), and in earlier work, Gretzel and Fesenmaier (2006), discuss recommender systems and their persuasive role in decision-making processes; Felfernig et al. (2008b) outline persuasion in knowledgebased recommendation. These works also shed light on psychological constructs that play a role in persuasion, which corresponds to a mechanism that can be used in recommender systems to influence choices. For a detailed overview of persuasive recommender systems, please refer to Yoo et al. (2012). Jesse and Jannach (2021) review related work on nudging with recommender systems. They also discuss 58 psychological mechanisms that are described in the reviewed works. Pu *et al.* (2012)present a survey on evaluating recommender systems from the user perspective, including preference elicitation and refinement, presentation of recommendations, and user-centric evaluation frameworks. Also, the authors summarize the most important results in the form of design guidelines for effective recommender systems.

Explanations of algorithmic decisions made by artificial intelligence help making algorithms more transparent. The recent survey on explainable recommendations by Zhang, Chen, *et al.* (2020) discusses related work on explainable recommendation models. For an overview of the body of research on explanations in artificial intelligence in light of the social sciences, please refer to Miller (2019).

In Zhang, Chen, et al. (2020) explanations in recommender systems are related to cognitive science and human decision making. As the authors describe, humans sometimes decide using rational and careful reasoning, while in other cases, they first decide and find explanations for their decisions later. This is in line with the typical approaches to designing explainable recommendation models: either, such models are already designed with transparency and explainability in mind, or post-hoc explanations are used to explain decisions made by black box models (Lipton, 2018; Miller, 2019). Tran *et al.* (2019a) and Tran *et al.* (2020) take into account findings from social choice theory, i.e., the study of collective choices that impact groups (Sen, 1986), to introduce explanations to increase fairness, consensus, and satisfaction of users with group recommendations.

Given the rich body of work on explainability in recommender systems, which is already presented in the survey by Zhang, Chen, *et al.* (2020), we do not focus on this topic in the paper at hand, instead refer the reader to Zhang, Chen, *et al.* (2020) as well as to the respective chapter in the recommender systems handbook by Tintarev and Masthoff (2015).

The field of group recommender systems also uses social psychology constructs to produce recommendations that are helpful for groups. In this paper, we touch upon them when we discuss relevant work on personality in group recommender systems. For an overview of group recommender systems and mechanisms to model group behavior, please also refer to Felfernig *et al.* (2018c) and Masthoff (2015).

Summing up, with this article, we aim to close the gap between a computer science perspective (in particular, a technical recommendation systems point of view) and a psychological perspective. We hope to appeal to researchers in the information retrieval and recommendation systems communities who want to delve deeper into the psychological foundations of recommendation systems research. In addition, we also address an audience with psychological background who strives to deepen their knowledge on how psychological constructs and models can be incorporated into recommendation systems. Please note that basic knowledge of recommendation systems and psychology is sufficient to understand the article.

		HetRec 2011		Million Playlist Dataset			LFM-1b		Million Song Dataset				Serendipity 2018			Personality 2018		Epinions, Ciao	FilmTrust	MovieLens	Name
	hetrec-2011	https://grouplens.org/datasets/	spotity-million-playlist-dataset-challenge	https://www.aicrowd.com/challenges/			$\rm http://www.cp.jku.at/datasets/LFM-1b$		http://millionsongdataset.com			serenui prov-2010	https://grouplens.org/datasets/		personality-2018	https://grouplens.org/datasets/	dataset co de/ truststudy.htm	https://www.cse.msu.edu/~tangjili/	https://guoguibing.github.io/librec/ datasets.html	https://grouplens.org/datasets/ movielens	URL
	ging systems	social networking, social tag-		music			music		music				movie			movie		movie	movie	movie	Domain
assignments	movie genres, movie genre	tag assignments, bookmarks,	playlists from Spotify	public user-generated	mographics	time stamps), tags, user de-	music listening events (with	lyrics	listening events, tags, genres,	ences	lated to serendipity prefer-	tamps), survey responses re-	movie ratings (with times-	(with timestamps)	ality information, ratings	movie preferences, person-	view ratings, trust scores	movie ratings, reviews, re-	ratings, trust scores	ratings, tags	Comments

 Table 1.2: Overview of selected datasets for recommender systems.





Fable 1.4: Part II of a timeline visualization of the reviewed publications to depict the evolution of techniques (from 20	depict the evolution	viewed publications tc	visualization of the rev	Part II of a timeline	Table 1.4:
Ortloff et al. (2021)	Jesse and Jannach (2021)			(0202)	2021
	Zimmerman et al. (2020)	Perloff (2020)	Beheshti <i>et al.</i> (2020)	Kahana (2020), Lex et al. (2020), Kowald et al. (2020a), Contreras and Salamó (2020), and Güell et al.	2020
Jin et al. (2019) and Goretzko et al. (2019)	Köcher et al. (2019), Karlsen and Andersen (2019), and Caraban et al. (2019)	Mizgajski and Morzy (2019)	Yang and Huang (2019), Sertkan et al. (2019), Recio- Garcia et al. (2009), and Nguyen et al. (2019)	Kowald et al. (2019), Jorró- Aragoneses et al. (2019), Zheng et al. (2019), Yang et al. (2019), and Zhang et al. (2019)	2019
Jugovac et al. (2018)	Jugovac et al. (2018), Felfer- nig et al. (2018), Tran et al. (2018), Schneider et al (2018), and Grüne-Yanoff et al. (2018)	Ayata et al. (2018)	Nguyen <i>et al.</i> (2018), Karu- mur <i>et al.</i> (2018), Wu <i>et al.</i> (2018), Lu and Tintarev (2018), Asabere <i>et al.</i> (2018), Adaji <i>et al.</i> (2018), and Felfer- nig <i>et al.</i> (2018a)	ALRossais and Kudenko (2018), ALRossais (2018), Thaker et al. (2018), Yago et al. (2018), Farrell and Lewandowsky (2018), and Chmiel and Schubert (2018)	2018
Herlocker <i>et al.</i> (2017), Jugo- vac and Jannach (2017), and Meske and Potthoff (2017)	Joachims <i>et al.</i> (2017), El- sweiler <i>et al.</i> (2017), Esposito <i>et al.</i> (2017), and Hertwig and Grüne-Yanoff (2017)	Piazza <i>et al.</i> (2017), Schedl <i>et al.</i> (2018), and Ravi and Vairavasundaram (2017)	Ferwerda et al. (2017b), Ferw- erda et al. (2017a), Nalmpan- tis and Tjortjis (2017), and Delic et al. (2017)	Beel (2015), Kowald et al. (2017b), Kopeinik et al. (2017b), and Kopeinik et al. (2017a)	2017
Kaminskas and Bridge (2016), Ekstrand and Willemsen <i>et al.</i> (2016) Willemsen <i>et al.</i> (2016)	Grüne-Yanoff and Hertwig (2016)		Karumur et al. (2016), Fernandez-Tobias et al. (2016), and Rossi and Cervone (2016)	Settinger (and Ley (2016), Settinger and Ley (2016), Jones (2016), Trattner <i>et al.</i> (2016), Kowald and Lex (2016), Stanley and Byrne (2016), Stanley and Byrne (2016), Schnabel <i>et al.</i> (2016), An- vey <i>et al.</i> (2016), and Mozer	2016
Knijnenburg and Willemsen (2015)	Jameson et al. (2015), Karimi et al. (2015), Teppan and Zanker (2015), Stettinger et al. (2015a), Stettinger et al. (2015b), Turland et al. (2015), and Synstein (2015)	Orellana-Rodriguez et al. (2015) and Deng et al. (2015)	Tkalcic and Chen (2015a)	Ren (2015), Kowald and Lex (2015), Musto <i>et al.</i> (2015), Bousbahi and Chorff (2015), Muhammad <i>et al.</i> (2015), Beel and Langer (2015), and Beel <i>et al.</i> (2015), and	2015
Ekstrand et al. (2014), Suren- dren and Bhuvaneswari (2014), and Schwind and Buder (2014)	Adomavicius et al. (2014) and Hofmann et al. (2014)		,	Beel et al. (2014), Kowald et al. (2014), Zhao et al. (2014), Missier (2014), and Chavar- riaga et al. (2014)	2014
	Chen et al. (2013a), Adomavi- cius et al. (2013), and Thaler et al. (2013)	Zheng (2013)	Golbeck and Norris (2013), Chen <i>et al.</i> (2013b), Wu <i>et al.</i> (2013), Tintarev <i>et al.</i> (2013), and Cantador <i>et al.</i> (2013)	Sabater-mir et al. (2013), Kowald et al. (2013), Seitlinger et al. (2013), and Fehling (1993)	2013
Hallann (2011) Pu et al. (2012), Knijnenburg et al. (2012a), Konstan and Riedl (2012a), Konstan burg et al. (2012b), Vyo et al. (2012), and Cremonesi et al. (2012)	Yoo et al. (2012), Bettman et al. (1998), Teppan and Felfer- nig (2012), Murphy et al. (2012), Radith (2012), Bate- man et al. (2012), and Smids (2012)	Konstan and Riedl (2012)	Tintarev and Masthoff (2012)	Fu and Dong (2012), Psy- chology (2012), Bollan <i>et al.</i> (2012), Wang and Yang (2012), Wang and Yang (2012), Bellandi <i>et al.</i> (2012), and Doherty <i>et al.</i> (2012)	2012
Shani and Gunawardana (2011), Hu and Pu (2011), Pu et al. (2011), Eksteand et al. (2011), Schwind et al. (2011), You and Gretzel (2011), Knijnenburg et al. (2011), Knijnenburg et al. (2011), Cremonesi et al. (2011), Cremonesi et al.	Adomavicius <i>et al.</i> (2011), Zhang (2011), Mandl <i>et al.</i> (2011), and Moraveji <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Tkalcic et al. (2011)	Rentfræv <i>et al.</i> (2011) and Masthoff (2011)	Blanco-Fernández et al. (2011)	2011
User-centric Eval.	Decision Making	Affect-aware	Personality-aware	Cognition-inspired	

Table 2021) d p lep ıqı Ĺ, 2011 to

Cognition	Sec.	References
Stereotypes	2.1	Elaine Rich, 1979; Rich, 1989; Blanco-Fernández et al., 2011; Beel et al., 2014; Beel and Langer,
		2015; Beel et al., 2015; Beel, 2015; ALRossais and
		Kudenko, 2018; ALRossais, 2018
Cogn. Models	2.1.1	Anderson, 2005; Fum et al., 2007; Farrell and
		Lewandowsky, 2018; Neisser, 1967; Ormerod, 1990;
		Psychology, 2012; Jones, 2016; Glushko <i>et al.</i> , 2008;
		Fu, 2008; Fu <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Fu and Kannampallil, 2010; Fu and Dong, 2012; Anderson <i>et al.</i> , 1997
Memory	2.1.2	Seitlinger and Ley, 2016; Kahana, 2020; Ingwersen,
Wiemory	2.1.2	1984; Rutledge-Taylor and West, 2007; Rutledge-
		Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Anderson, 1974; Bollen <i>et al.</i> ,
		2012; Matlin and Stang, 1978; Ebbinghaus, 1885;
		Ebbinghaus, 2013; Yu and Li, 2010; Ren, 2015;
		Chmiel and Schubert, 2018; Yang et al., 2019;
		Sabater-mir et al., 2013; Maanen and Marewski,
		2009; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Trattner <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2017b; Kowald
		Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2017b; Kowald and Lex, 2016; Kowald and Lex, 2015; Stanley and
		Byrne, 2016; Kowald $et al.$, 2020a; Kopeinik $et al.$,
		2016; Kopeinik <i>et al.</i> , 2017b; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2019;
		Lex et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2014; Missier, 2014;
		Schnabel et al., 2016; Elsweiler et al., 2007; Harvey
		et al., 2016; Doherty et al., 2012; Gemmell et al.,
		2002; Lamming and Flynn, 1994
Attention	2.1.3	Seitlinger <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Kowald <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Kopeinik
CDD	2.1.4	et al., 2017a
CBR	2.1.4	Hammond, 2012; Kolodner, 2014; Riesbeck and Schank, 2013; Kolodner, 1992; Tversky, 1977; Burke
		<i>et al.</i> , 1996; Burke, 1999; Ricci and Werthner, 2001;
		Ricci et al., 2002; Ricci et al., 2006; Aguzzoli et al.,
		2002; Gong, 2009; Yang and Wang, 2009; Wang
		and Yang, 2012; Musto et al., 2015; Bousbahi and
		Chorfi, 2015; McSherry, 2005; Sharma and Ray,
		2016; Muhammad <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Jorro-Aragoneses
		et al., 2019; Pu et al., 2012; McGinty and Reilly,
		2011; Contreras and Salamó, 2020; Contreras and Salamó, 2020; Güell <i>et al.</i> , 2020
Competence	2.1.5	Fehling, 1993; Bellandi <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Chavarriaga
	2.1.0	<i>et al.</i> , 2014; Prins <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Yago <i>et al.</i> , 2018;
		Mozer and Lindsey, 2016; Thaker <i>et al.</i> , 2018

 Table 1.5:
 Overview of surveyed papers that implement cognitive models to design and improve recommendation techniques.

Personality-aware Rec. Sys.	Sec.	References
Personality	2.2	Tkalcic and Chen, 2015a; Ferwerda
		et al., 2017b; Golbeck and Norris,
		2013; Rentfrow <i>et al.</i> , 2011 ; Chen <i>et</i>
		<i>al.</i> , 2013b; Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Nguyen
		et al., 2018; Karumur et al., 2018;
		Karumur et al., 2016
Personality Elicitation	2.2.1	McCrae and John, 1992; Thomas,
		1992; Felfernig <i>et al.</i> , 2018d; Hol-
		land, 1997; Bologna et al., 2013;
		Stewart, 2011; Konert <i>et al.</i> , 2013;
		Paiva et al., 2015; Goldberg et al.,
		2006; Gosling <i>et al.</i> , 2003; John and
		Srivastava, 1999; Berkovsky <i>et al.</i> ,
		2019; Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2019; Ferwerda
		and Tkalcic, 2018; Golbeck <i>et al.</i> ,
		2011a; Golbeck <i>et al.</i> , $2011b$; Gol-
		beck, 2016
Personality Traits in RecSys	2.2.2	Asabere <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Yang and
reisonanty frans in Recsys	2.2.2	
		Huang, 2019; Adaji <i>et al.</i> , 2018;
		Nalmpantis and Tjortjis, 2017; Can-
		tador <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Gelli <i>et al.</i> , 2017;
		Tintarev et al., 2013; Wu et al.,
		2018; Ferwerda $et al.$, 2017a; Lu and
		Tintarev, 2018; Fernandez-Tobias
		et al., 2016; Beheshti et al., 2020;
		Sertkan <i>et al.</i> , 2019
Personality in Group RecSys	2.2.3	Recio-Garcia et al., 2009; Felfer-
		nig et al., 2018a; Masthoff, 2011;
		Quijano-Sanchez et al., 2010; Rossi
		and Cervone, 2016; Costa and Mc-
		Crae, 1995; Charness and Rabin,
		2002; Delic <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Nguyen <i>et</i>
		<i>al.</i> , 2019
		<i>uu.</i> , 2013

 Table 1.6:
 Overview of our surveyed papers describing personality-aware recommendation algorithms and systems.

Affect-aware RecSys	Sec.	References
Affect	2.3	Shiv and Fedorikhin, 1999; Orellana-
		Rodriguez et al., 2015; Piazza et al., 2017;
		Ferwerda et al., 2017b; Golbeck and Nor-
		ris, 2013; Rentfrow $et al.$, 2011; Chen et
		al., 2013b; Wu et al., 2013; Mizgajski and
		Morzy, 2019; Schäfer, 2016; Schedl et al.,
		2018; Zheng, 2013
Modeling Affect	2.3.1	Russell, 1980; Mehrabian, 1980; Fontaine et
		al., 2007
Affect in RecSys	2.3.2	Tkalcic et al., 2011; Ravi and Vairavasun-
		daram, 2017; Deng et al., 2015; Ayata et al.,
		2018

 Table 1.7:
 Overview of the surveyed papers describing affect-aware recommendation algorithms and systems.

Human Decision Making	Sec.	References
Decision Making	3	Yoo et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013a; Bettman et al., 1998; Jame- son et al., 2015; Adomavicius et al., 2013; Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Chapman and Johnson, 2002; Karimi et al., 2015; Jugovac et al., 2018
Decoy Items	3.1	Payne <i>et al.</i> , 1993; Huber <i>et al.</i> , 1982; Teppan and Felfernig, 2012; Teppan and Zanker, 2015
Serial Position Effects	3.2	Deese and Kaufman, 1957; Glanzer and Cunitz, 1966; Ranjith, 2012; Murphy et al., 2012; Felfernig et al., 2007; Schnabel et al., 2016; Stettinger et al., 2015a; Tran et al., 2018; Hofmann et al., 2014; Joachims et al., 2017; Craswell et al., 2008; Stettinger et al., 2015b; Dyer, 2005
Framing	3.3	Tversky and Kahneman, 1981; Tversky and Kahneman, 1992; Mandl <i>et al.</i> , 2011
Anchor Effects	3.4	Mojzisch and Schulz-Hardt, 2010; Adomavicius <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Zhang, 2011; Köcher <i>et al.</i> , 2019; Adomavi- cius <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Felfernig <i>et al.</i> , 2018b
Nudging	3.5 & 3.6	Thaler and Sunstein, 2009; Thaler et al., 2013; Tversky and Kah- neman, 1974; Jesse and Jannach, 2021; Karlsen and Andersen, 2019; Caraban et al., 2019; Elsweiler et al., 2017; Esposito et al., 2017; Tur- land et al., 2015; Schneider et al., 2018; Sunstein, 2015
Boosting	3.6	Grüne-Yanoff and Hertwig, 2016; Hertwig and Grüne-Yanoff, 2017; Grüne-Yanoff et al., 2018; Zimmer- man et al., 2020; Ortloff et al., 2021; Bateman et al., 2012; Moraveji et al., 2011

Table 1.8: Overview of the surveyed papers describing mechanisms of humandecision making in light of recommender systems research.

User-centric Evaluation	Sec.	References
User-centric Evaluation	4.1	Ekstrand and Willemsen, 2016; Knijnen- burg et al., 2012a; McNee et al., 2006b; Nalmpantis and Tjortjis, 2017; Chen and Pu, 2005; Konstan and Riedl, 2012; Xiao and Benbasat, 2007; Shin, 2020; McNee et al., 2003; Ziegler et al., 2005; O'Brien and Toms, 2008; Pu and Chen, 2006; Cosley et al., 2003; O'Brien and Toms, 2010
Cognitive Dissonance	4.1.1	Festinger, 1954; Surendren and Bhu- vaneswari, 2014; Schwind <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Kuan <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Schwind and Buder, 2014; Nguyen <i>et al.</i> , 2007
Persuasion	4.1.2	Fogg, 2002; Perloff, 2020; Meske and Potthoff, 2017; Yoo <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Gret- zel and Fesenmaier, 2006; Jugovac <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Yoo and Gretzel, 2011; Nanou <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Cremonesi <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Felfernig <i>et al.</i> , 2008a; Herlocker <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Tintarev and Masthoff, 2012; Berdichevsky and Neuenschwan- der, 1999; Smids, 2012
Interactions & Interfaces	4.1.3	Knijnenburg et al., 2011; Knijnenburg and Willemsen, 2015; Bollen et al., 2010; Chen and Pu, 2010b; Chen and Pu, 2010a; Hu and Pu, 2011; Ekstrand et al., 2014; Jugovac and Jannach, 2017
Attitudes & Beliefs	4.1.4	Cremonesi et al., 2011a; Pu et al., 2011; Swearingen and Sinha, 2002; Bollen et al., 2010; Willemsen et al., 2016; Jin et al., 2019
User Study Design	4.2	Allen and Yen, 2001; McCroskey <i>et al.</i> , 1984; Yannakakis and Hallam, 2011; O'Brien and Toms, 2008; O'Brien and Toms, 2010; Goretzko <i>et al.</i> , 2019; Knij- nenburg and Willemsen, 2015; Pu <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Knijnenburg <i>et al.</i> , 2012b; Ullman and Bentler, 2003

 Table 1.9:
 Overview of the surveyed papers describing research on user experience and designing user studies.

Psychology-informed Recommendation Approaches

In this chapter, we review three categories of psychology-informed recommender systems: (i) cognition-inspired, (ii) personality-aware, and (iii) affect-aware recommender systems.

2.1 Cognition-inspired Recommender Systems

Cognition-inspired recommender systems employ models from cognitive psychology to design and improve recommender systems. Cognitive psychology is a field of research within psychology that investigates human mental processes such as decision-making, memory, or attention. Early recommender systems research has extensively drawn on findings from cognitive psychology, among other disciplines (Adomavicius and Tuzhilin, 2005). In this respect, one of the earliest recommender systems was the Grundy system (Elaine Rich, 1979; Rich, 1989) that grouped users into *stereotypes* to create book recommendations. Stereotype-based recommender systems produce recommendations based on generalizing assumptions about users, such as that computer scientists like science fiction books and historians like biographies (Beel *et al.*, 2017). The underlying psychological principle of stereotypes is the *representativeness heuristic* by Kahneman and Tversky (1972), which people apply when making decisions under uncertainty. It is a mental shortcut that people use when assessing if an object belongs to a specific category. They make this decision based on how representative they think the object is for a category.

In the Grundy system, users described their interests based on adjectives, which were then grouped into stereotypes. The psychological literature describes stereotypes as a form of categorization that humans apply to reduce complexity. Using stereotyping, humans group others based on common characteristics. For an overview of the cognitive mechanisms behind stereotyping, please refer to (Hamilton, 1979; Hamilton, 2015). Please note stereotyping is a trivial application of psychological principles to model users.

Later work employed stereotypes in a library reference manager system to produce book recommendations (Beel et al., 2014; Beel and Langer, 2015) and in (Beel et al., 2015; Beel, 2015) to recommend research papers to researchers at different stages of their academic career. In the latter case, stereotypes serve as a fallback mechanism when classic approaches such as collaborative filtering cannot deliver recommendations, e.g., in cold-start scenarios. Blanco et al. (Blanco-Fernández et al., 2011) use consumption stereotypes in a knowledge-based recommender systems. Recent work by Al-Rossais and Kudenko (ALRossais and Kudenko, 2018; ALRossais, 2018) performs a comparative analysis of the performance of stereotype-based item modeling and non-stereotypebased item modeling. Specifically, they evaluate the efficacy of two stereotype-based recommendation approaches: First, they create userbased stereotypes using demographic data such as age and gender, and second, item-based stereotypes based on user preferences. They find that incorporating stereotypes can improve recommendation accuracy and that stereotypes can help with the new item problem, i.e., an item comes to the system for which no interactions are available. However, the authors also note that the creation of stereotypes is labor-intensive, especially in the case of manually created stereotypes. While stereotypes are a simple technique to model users, in the remainder of this paper, we review works that exploit more complex psychological constructs in recommender systems research.

In the following, we first briefly outline theories of cognitive pro-

cesses. Subsequently, we review works which use computational cognitive models to generate and improve personalized recommendations.

2.1.1 Computational Modeling of Cognitive Processes

Cognitive processes and cognition are typically studied in cognitive science, a discipline in which researchers from neuroscience, artificial intelligence, and cognitive psychology aim to understand the functioning of the mind (Anderson, 2005). Cognitive scientists have developed a broad range of empirical methods to study cognition (Fum *et al.*, 2007). The predominant empirical approach is to conduct experiments and analyze behavioral data using statistical models from mathematical psychology, whose parameters represent cognitive constructs. A prominent example is the power law of forgetting (Anderson *et al.*, 1997), which models the rate at which the activation of memory units decays in time.

An increasingly popular technique is cognitive-computational modeling (Farrell and Lewandowsky, 2018) – an attempt to specify cognitive assumptions and to simulate parts of the human mind through computable models (Neisser, 1967; Ormerod, 1990; Psychology, 2012).

In recent times, cognitive-computational modeling also allowed to complement experimental studies with more data-driven approaches, which, e.g., make use of large-scale datasets of social information systems (e.g., (Jones, 2016)). Corresponding artifacts within these systems, such as tagged bookmarks, can be interpreted as manifestations of cognitive processes (e.g., categorization of Web resources and evolving information needs) and used to test theories of human cognition (e.g., (Glushko *et al.*, 2008)). Illustrative examples can be found in the studies of Fu and colleagues (e.g., (Fu, 2008; Fu *et al.*, 2010; Fu and Kannampallil, 2010; Fu and Dong, 2012)), who draw on the cognitive architecture ACT-R (Anderson *et al.*, 1997) (see below) to perform theory-guided analyses and simulations of users' tagging behavior in social media, resulting in a socio-cognitive user model of social tagging (Fu, 2008; Fu and Dong, 2012).

2.1.2 Cognitive Models of Memory

Memory is a fundamental process of human cognition that supports goaldirected interactions with our physical and social environment (Seitlinger and Ley, 2016). The cognitive process memory enables the encoding and storing of information in memory structures, i.e., short-term, working memory, and long-term memory, so that it can be later retrieved. When information is recorded into memory (i.e., encoded) it is bound to temporal and spatial context information in order to later enable a context-guided search of memory content (i.e., the process of controlled retrieval) (Kahana, 2020). This makes memory processes closely related to research problems in Information Retrieval (Ingwersen, 1984) and Recommender Systems. In the following, we provide a number of examples where recommender systems have been inspired or motivated by memory models.

Memory models have been used in recommender systems in various forms. Rutledge et al. (Rutledge-Taylor and West, 2007; Rutledge-Taylor et al., 2008) propose a recommender system that is based on a cognitive model of human long-term memory, i.e., dynamically structured holographic memory (DSHM) (Rutledge-Taylor and West, 2007), to resemble how a human expert makes recommendations. This system can model various human memory effects such as the fan effect (Anderson, 1974), i.e., recognition times for a concept increases as more information is available about the concept. Bollen, Graus, and Willemsen (Bollen et al., 2012) exploit positivity effects from human memory theory to investigate temporal dynamics of ratings in recommender systems. According to the psychological literature, memories become more positive over time (Matlin and Stang, 1978). In an offline study, the authors find evidence for the existence of the positivity effect in ratings, i.e., movies receive higher ratings as time between release date and rating date increases. However, a corresponding user study shows a decline in rating score when movies were rated in a larger interval between watching and rating.

Another memory model from psychology, the Ebbinghaus forgetting curve (Ebbinghaus, 2013) is used to model changes in the interests of users. The Ebbinghaus forgetting curve is a psychological theory from 1880 that describes the decrease in ability of the human brain to retain memory over time. In recommender systems research, the curve has been used in several works (e.g., (Yu and Li, 2010; Ren, 2015; Chmiel and Schubert, 2018; Yang *et al.*, 2019)) to account for shifts in user interests by weighting the user feedback (e.g., ratings) using a nonlinear, time-based memory decay function. Yu and Li (2010) and Ren (2015) utilize the curve to design a novel collaborative filtering algorithm that accounts for shifts in user interests. Chmiel and Schubert (2018) use the Ebbinghaus forgetting curve to model drifts in user preferences in a music recommender system. Yang *et al.* (2019) use it to derive item embeddings in a collaborative filtering approach. They use the curve to divide user preferences into long-term and short-term preferences where recently rated items are weighted higher than dated items.

Models of human memory are sometimes part of broader *cognitive* architectures, which aim to draw a more holistic picture of how different cognitive domains work together to generate emergent phenomena, such as a coherent thought. For an overview of cognitive architectures, please refer to (Chong *et al.*, 2007). Sabater-mir *et al.* (Sabater-mir *et al.*, 2013) use the cognitive architecture Belief/Desire/Intention (BDI) as an intermediate between recommenders and their users. The cognitive architecture ACT-R (short for adaptive control of thought-rational) (Anderson *et al.*, 1997) has been employed in the context of recommender systems in several works (Maanen and Marewski, 2009; Kowald *et al.*, 2014; Trattner *et al.*, 2016; Kowald *et al.*, 2013; Kowald *et al.*, 2017b; Kowald and Lex, 2016; Stanley and Byrne, 2016)). ACT-R defines and formalizes the basic cognitive operations of the human mind.

Figure 2.1 depicts the main architecture of ACT-R. As illustrated in the figure, ACT-R differentiates between short-term memory modules, such as the working memory module, and long-term memory modules, such as the declarative and procedural memory modules. Using a sensory register (i.e., the ultra-short-term memory), the encoded information is passed to the short-term working memory module, which interacts with the long-term memory modules. In the case of the declarative memory, the encoded information can be stored, and already stored information can be retrieved. In the case of the procedural memory, the information can be matched against stored rules that can lead to actions (Kowald



Figure 2.1: Schematic illustration of ACT-R (Kowald *et al.*, 2020a). Please note that the activation equation of the declarative memory module is used in a variety of recommender systems.

et al., 2020a). Thus, declarative memory holds factual knowledge (e.g., what something is), and procedural memory consists of sequences of actions (e.g., how to do something). Most works that employ ACT-R in the context of recommender systems focus on the declarative part, which contains the activation equation of human memory. The activation equation determines the usefulness, i.e., the activation level of a memory unit (i.e., in the case of a recommender systems, a candidate item) for a user in the current context.

According to ACT-R, the probability that a piece of information (i.e., a memory unit) will be needed to achieve a processing goal, i.e., will be *activated*, depends on its usefulness in the current context as well as a human's prior exposure to this information. This prior exposure can be quantified by two factors: recency and frequency of usage. In addition, the current context in which the information occurs also contributes to its activation. All factors are modeled using ACT-R's activation equation, as given in Equation 2.1.

$$A_i = B_i + \sum_j W_j \cdot S_{j,i} \tag{2.1}$$

where A_i denotes the activation level of a memory unit *i*, B_i is the base-level activation of *i*, *j* is a cue in the current semantic context, W_j denotes the weighting of *j*, and $S_{j,i}$ is the strength of activation between *j* and *i*. B_i can be computed via the base-level learning (BLL) equation of ACT-R, i.e.:

$$B_i = ln\left(\sum_{j=1}^n t_j^{-d}\right) \tag{2.2}$$

where n is the number of times i was activated in the past, t_j is the time since the j^{th} activation of i and d accounts of the time-based decay of activation in memory.

The activation equation of ACT-R has been exploited in several recommender systems. Van Mannen et al. (Maanen and Marewski, 2009) use it to provide researchers at scientific conferences with recommendations of which talk to attend. Here, the recommender system mimics a researcher's memory since it recommends a talk if words in the talk's abstract have occurred recently and frequently in the scientist's work. Kowald et al. (Kowald et al., 2017b) use the equation to model and explain how Twitter users apply hashtags. They find that almost two-thirds of Twitter users in their datasets reuse their hashtags or social hashtags (i.e., from their friends' network), following a time-based decay in the form of a power-law function, in line with Equation 2.2. Based on these findings, they introduce a novel hashtag recommendation approach that adapts the equation to account for individual and social hashtag reuse and which ranks a user's hashtags and the ones of her friends based on frequency and recency. In other works, Kowald et al. (Kowald et al., 2014; Kowald and Lex, 2016; Kowald and Lex, 2015) and Trattner et al. (Trattner et al., 2016) use the BLL equation (i.e., Equation 2.2) to model tag reuse processes and to recommend items in social tagging systems. Please note that these implementations of the BLL equation are available in the open source recommender systems framework TagRec (Kowald et al., 2017a). Stanley and Byrne (Stanley

and Byrne, 2016) combine the equation with a random permutation vector-based model to describe past tagging behavior in StackOverflow and Twitter. Kopeinik et al. (Kopeinik et al., 2016) use it to recommend learning resources and support collaborative learning with tag recommendations (Kopeinik et al., 2017b). Besides, in (Kowald et al., 2019; Lex et al., 2020), the activation equation is utilized to model music listening behavior and recommend artists and genres, respectively. The latter works show that the resulting computational model can alleviate popularity bias in music recommender systems (Kowald et al., 2020b). Please note that the algorithms based on the activation equation to model music listening behavior are available in the open-source recommender systems framework TagRec (Kowald et al., 2017a). Furthermore, Zhao et al. (2014) use the activation equation to produce context-aware recommendations for mobile applications as they combine frequency and recency of application use into contextual information.

Finally, recommender systems can support memory processes, as is described in (Missier, 2014). Here, Schnabel et al. (2016) propose to support a user's short-term memory by creating a digital short-term memory in the form of shortlists, which contain the items a user is currently considering. Items on the shortlist represent implicit feedback that is exploited to generate additional training data for a recommender system. Additionally, Elsweiler *et al.* (2007) relate the task of supporting memory in retrieving objects to recovering from memory lapses. They show that building upon research on how people recover from memory lapses can help to create better personal information management tools. Other works suggest augmenting human memory via providing documentation of events gathered from external tools such as wearable sensors or cameras (Harvey et al., 2016; Doherty et al., 2012). Related to this, in (Gemmell et al., 2002), the MyLifeBits project is presented, which aims to fulfill Vannevar Bush's Memex vision to generate a system that is capable of reminding users of their stored "bits" (e.g., documents or images). A similar initiative, the Forget-me-not project, was even already introduced in 1994 (Lamming and Flynn, 1994). Interestingly, the authors state the importance of context for retrieving memory cues, which is in line with the recommendation algorithms mimicking human memory access that have been proposed decades later (e.g., by Kowald

et al. (2017b)).

2.1.3 Cognitive Models of Attention

Attention is a mechanism to selectively process information in an environment in the face of distraction. Attention is dynamic in nature and hence typically modeled using connectionist models. Connectionism is a research strand in cognitive science, which uses artificial neural networks to study cognition and to model cognitive processes (Buckner and Garson, 2019). In this vein, Seitlinger *et al.* (2013) use the connectionist human memory simulation model ALCOVE (Kruschke, 1992) to implement a novel tag recommendation algorithm termed 3Layers. Kowald *et al.* (2013) enhance the 3Layers algorithm with recency effects by combining it with the BLL equation mentioned before. Another connectionist model is used by Kopeinik *et al.* (2017a), who apply SUSTAIN (Love et al., 2004), a connectionist model of human category learning and successor of ALCOVE, to recommend resources that fit to a user's current attentional focus. Please note that the resulting resource recommendation algorithm is publicly available in the open-source TagRec framework (Kowald et al., 2017a).

The use of memory or attention mechanisms in deep learning-based recommender systems (see e.g. (Zheng *et al.*, 2019)) has gained traction in recent years. To the best of our knowledge, such works typically do not discuss underlying psychological constructs. Therefore, in the present study, such works are omitted. For an overview of deep learning-based recommender systems, see (Zhang *et al.*, 2019b), as well as the recent study by Xu *et al.* (2020).

2.1.4 Cognition and Case-based Reasoning Recommender Systems

Case-based recommender systems (Hammond, 2012; Kolodner, 2014; Riesbeck and Schank, 2013) employ case-based reasoning (CBR), a technique pioneered by cognitive scientist Janet Kolodner (Kolodner, 1992; Kolodner, 2014) to produce recommendations. CBR is a technique where a reasoner remembers previous cases that are similar to the current case and uses them to solve new problems (Kolodner, 1992). Such systems constitute early examples of psychology-informed recommender systems

as they employ a problem solving architecture designed by psychologists. The similarity metrics used by CBR systems were inspired by works in psychology on the basic features of similarity. Here, the similarity between two items is determined based on their common and distinctive features (Tversky, 1977). Since CBR recommender systems are based on learning from previous experiences, they require a knowledge base that contains well-represented examples (Burke *et al.*, 1996).

CBR research examines the CBR process both as a model of human cognition and as an approach to build intelligent systems (Leake, 2001). In the context of recommender systems research, Burke employs CBR to generate recommendations in an e-commerce setting (Burke, 1999), and in Burke et al. (1996) to produce restaurant recommendations. Ricci et al. (Ricci and Werthner, 2001; Ricci et al., 2002; Ricci et al., 2006) utilize CBR in the domain of travel recommendations. Aguzzoli et al. (2002) combine CBR with CF to produce music recommendations, similar to Gong (2009), who combines CBR with item-based CF by first using CBR to fill missing entries in the user-item ratings matrix and then predicting items using CF. Yang and Wang (2009) designed an approach based on CBR to assist project managers in constructing new project plans based on previous projects. Wang and Yang (2012) introduce an extension to CBR to enable a hierarchical problem representation. Their approach considers multiple decision objectives on each level of hierarchical, multiple-level decision criteria; thus, problems can be identified more precisely. Musto *et al.* (2015) employ CBR to recommend personalized investment portfolios as an assisting tool to financial advisors. Bousbahi and Chorfi (2015) implement a CBR-based recommendation approach to assist learners in finding massive open online courses (MOOCs) that meet their personal interests.

CBR has furthermore been used to design explanation strategies for recommendations; see the respective chapter in the Recommender Systems Handbook for a concise overview of explanations for recommender systems (Tintarev and Masthoff, 2015); the review presented by Doyle *et al.* (2003) details the use of explanations in knowledge-based systems. McSherry (2005) explain recommendations along with the difference between query and case descriptions, whereas the query represents the user preferences. Sharma and Ray (2016) select the attribute with the highest weight in the similarity metric to find the similar cases that may be of interest to the user as an explanation of the recommendation.

Muhammad *et al.* (2015) describe a case-based recommender system for hotels whereas cases are extracted from the user-generated, textual reviews of users. In addition to cases, user profiles are created based on the reviews a user has submitted. Based on the profiles, a set of hotels are recommended and explanations for the candidates are produced and used to rank hotels. The explanations consist of hotel amenities enriched with sentiment extracted from opinions expressed in the reviews. Jorro-Aragoneses *et al.* (2019) introduce a CBR strategy to extract explanatory cases that are similar to recommended items, which are then used to interpret latent factors produced by matrix factorization recommendation algorithms.

Furthermore, critique-based recommender systems are a form of case-based recommender systems (Pu et al., 2012). Critique-based recommenders produce recommendations by creating a dialogue, in which recommendations are offered and users give feedback to the recommendations in the form of critiques. A large body of research exists on critique-based recommender systems; for an overview, please refer to the respective chapter in the Recommender Systems Handbook (McGinty and Reilly, 2011). In this field, recent work by Contreras and Salamó (2020) introduces a cognitive user preference model that incorporates an adaptive clustering process into the user model. The authors use this user model in a critique-based recommender system. Here, the cognitive user preference model is generated from interactions with the user and adapts its content to the evolving requirements of the user, which are defined by the user's critiques. Also in recent work, Güell et al. (2020) introduce a cognitive-based assistant for a critique-based recommender system, whose reasoning process when recommending products employs the same cognitively-inspired clustering algorithm as Contreras and Salamó (2020).

2.1.5 Competence-based Recommender Systems

Competence can be understood as the body of knowledge that is required to perform tasks in a particular domain (Fehling, 1993). In the context of recommender systems, competence is often used in learning and expert seeking scenarios. Bellandi *et al.* (2012) outline various design principles for competence-based recommender systems. The basis for such systems are competence profiles that help recommend expert advice or design teams. Chavarriaga *et al.* (2014) introduce a hybrid recommender system based on collaborative filtering and knowledge-based recommendations for students, which recommends activities and resources. The goal is to assist students achieve certain competence levels in the context of an online or blended course. Prins *et al.* (2008) propose to support learners with personalized competence-based recommendations. The authors investigate the efficacy of using competence descriptions in personalized recommender systems. For a systematic review of competence-based recommender systems, refer to Yago *et al.* (2018).

Modeling competences also plays an important role in the development of educational recommender systems (Pavlik and Anderson, 2008). An example is given by Mozer and Lindsey (2016), who follow a hybrid approach that integrates collaborative filtering and computational models of forgetting, such as a variant of the above described ACT-R activation equation. More specifically, they use collaborative filtering to infer a student's latent traits, such as the memory strength for a given item (e.g., vocabulary) or the individual time-based memory decay rate. They then exploit the activation equation to predict the student's knowledge state with respect to the item.

Thaker *et al.* (2018) present an approach to model dynamic student knowledge for online adaptive textbooks. Their model integrates student activities in a knowledge tracing framework (Corbett and Anderson, 1994), a framework based on ACT-R to model changes in knowledge states during acquisition of skills. In the work of Thaker et al., students' current level of knowledge is derived from behavioral data and quiz activities.

A mathematically complementary approach can be found in educational recommender systems, which draw on the set-theoretical framework of Knowledge Space Theory (e.g., Falmagne *et al.* (2013)). Based on the observed problem solving behavior of a student, e.g., in the domain of mathematics, the probability distribution over the underlying subset of knowledge states (i.e., problems that can already be mastered) is estimated. These estimates serve as input for adaptive recommendations of learning objects, which are neither too easy nor too difficult.

2.1.6 Discussion

Incorporating cognitive models of human cognition to design and improve recommender systems is a promising research direction. In particular, a variety of human memory models have been applied to model user behavior and to improve recommender systems. The use of parts of the cognitive architecture ACT-R has put forth effective recommendation systems. The most compelling reason here is that the BLL equation formalizes fundamental time-based memory decay processes in a computationally efficient manner; additionally, its underlying psychological model is intuitive and contributes to a deeper understanding of user behavior. However, recommender systems based on the BLL equation foster interaction with content similar to what a user has already interacted with recently and frequently in the past (e.g., scientific content like in the work of Maanen and Marewski (2009)). Depending on the use case (e.g., recommending political news) this may lead to confirmation bias, i.e., the tendency to recall information that mostly confirms one's existing beliefs. Understanding the implications of such recommender systems from both the user and the system perspective is an open challenge for future research. One strand of research can look into the diversification of recommendation results to mitigate confirmation bias. For an overview of diversification in recommender systems, please refer to Castells et al. (2015). The topic of counterfactual reasoning (Hoch, 1985) can be another strand of research to alleviate confirmation, and in a larger context, information bias. Counterfactual reasoning is a core concept in human cognition that corresponds to thinking about a past situation and reflecting on alternative outcomes that might also have been. Galinsky and Moskowitz (2000) show in a psychological study that counterfactual reasoning can make study participants explore alternative explanations in situations in which they typically seek confirmatory information. Future work can explore how to develop counterfactual recommendations that help users explore alternative choices and their

impact on user behavior.

CBR recommender systems, while being a category of recommender systems on their own, are also built on principles of cognition. In essence, they mimic how humans draw on previous learning episodes when solving new problems. One of their advantages is that they help generate recommendations in a transparent and explainable fashion. However, they require a knowledge base, whose creation is often labor intensive. More research is needed to devise efficient techniques to create and maintain such knowledge bases.

Furthermore, we reviewed works that incorporate a user's attention into the recommendation model. While the success of deep learning has spawned a range of attention-based approaches, we are not aware of any works that discuss underlying psychological models and theories of attention. Here, we see potential for future work to investigate attentionbased approaches in light of underlying psychological constructs. That can foster the transparency and interpretability of the inner workings of such algorithms.

Finally, there is also untapped potential in the study of the connection between utilizing human memory processes to design and improve recommender systems and using recommender systems to support human memory in retrieving objects. While both strands of research agree on the relevance of context cues for determining the importance of objects in human memory, to date, research that addresses both aspects simultaneously is scarce.

2.2 Personality-aware Recommender Systems

Personality is a fundamental human characteristic, which has been studied in psychology for decades. Personality traits are human characteristics that are stable over the years. In contrast to mood or emotion, which change frequently and are context-dependent, personality traits do not depend on a particular context or stimulus. Personality traits are known to be significantly correlated with user characteristics that recommender systems exploit, such as music preferences (Tkalcic and Chen, 2015a; Ferwerda *et al.*, 2017b), or preferences for movies (Golbeck and Norris, 2013) or books (Rentfrow *et al.*, 2011); or the need for diversity in recommendation lists (Chen *et al.*, 2013b; Wu *et al.*, 2013). Nguyen et al. (Nguyen *et al.*, 2018) find, in a user study with over 1,800 subjects, that personality traits of users can also help infer the users' preferences for recommendation diversity, popularity, and serendipity. They also show that user satisfaction increases when personality traits are incorporated into the recommendation process. The correlation between user preferences and personality traits is also confirmed in the work of Karumur et al. (Karumur *et al.*, 2018). In a user study conducted on the MovieLens dataset,¹ the authors identify user behavior that is related to the recommender system (i.e., user retention and engagement, preferences, and rating patterns), and show that the personality traits of the users correlate significantly with their behavior.

The most common motivations for considering personality in the recommendation process are to alleviate cold-start situations (in particular for new users) and to improve the level of personalization (e.g., to increase recommendation list diversity). Karumur et al. (Karumur *et al.*, 2016) go beyond this research as their aim is to identify specific areas where personality is most likely to provide value in recommender systems. To that end, they study category-by-category variations in preference (both rating levels and distribution) across different personality types.

2.2.1 Elicitating Personality Traits

While a variety of models exist to describe human personality traits, the least disputed and most commonly used model in the context of recommender systems research is the *Five Factor Model* (FFM), which is also known as the *Big Five* model or the *OCEAN* model (McCrae and John, 1992). Please note that other personality models are the Thomas-Kilman conflict mode personality model (Thomas, 1992), which is used to model dynamics in groups (Felfernig *et al.*, 2018d), or the vocational RIASEC model (short for Realistic, Investigative, Artistic, Social, Enterprising, and Conventional) model (Holland, 1997), which is used to deliver personalized recommendations in an e-commerce setting (Bologna *et al.*, 2013), as well as the Bartle model (short for

¹https://grouplens.org/datasets/movielens

Killers, Achievers, Explorers, and Socializers) (Stewart, 2011), which is used to provide recommendations in gamified learning settings (Konert *et al.*, 2013; Paiva *et al.*, 2015).

The most commonly adopted FFM describes personality along the five dimensions of openness to experience (conventional vs. creative thinking), conscientiousness (disorganized vs. organized behavior), extraversion (engagement with the external world), agreeableness (need for social harmony), and neuroticism (emotional stability). Various instruments have been developed to elicit personality traits, with questionnaires being a common choice. Each personality dimension is then described along a given multi-point rating scale, e.g., between 1 and 5. To this end, the responses/ratings to the questions are linearly combined using a fixed combination for each trait.

A comprehensive resource for such instruments is the International Personality Item Pool (IPIP),², which contains a wealth of measures and scales (Goldberg *et al.*, 2006).

The most commonly used instruments to elicit personality traits according to the FFM include the *Ten Item Personality Inventory* (TIPI) (Gosling *et al.*, 2003) and the *Big Five Inventory* (BFI) (John and Srivastava, 1999). The former asks users to fill in 10 questions on a 7-point scale from "disagree strongly" to "agree strongly" (e.g., "I see myself as anxious, easily upset."). The latter, sometimes also referred to as BFI-44, uses 44 questions. Both linearly combine the answers to result in a final score for each of the OCEAN dimensions.

Please note that several approaches exist, which infer personality traits not based on questionnaires; including extracting personality information from eye tracking data (Berkovsky *et al.*, 2019), communication behavior in Web-based learning Systems (Wu *et al.*, 2019), visual and content features from Instagram pictures (Ferwerda and Tkalcic, 2018), or social media content (Golbeck *et al.*, 2011a; Golbeck *et al.*, 2011b; Golbeck, 2016).

²https://ipip.ori.org
2.2.2 Personality Traits in Recommender Systems

Since personality traits are human characteristics that are stable over years and do not depend on a certain context or stimulus, in contrast to mood or emotion, respectively, they can be used to create personalized recommender systems. The most common motivations for considering personality in the recommendation process include to alleviate *coldstart* situations (in particular for new users) and to improve the level of *personalization* (e.g., to increase recommendation list diversity). In the following, we present a selection of very recent work; for a review of earlier research, please consider (Tkalcic and Chen, 2015b).

Asabere et al. propose a recommender system for *conference attendees* that integrates personality traits and social ties of attendees (Asabere *et al.*, 2018). Personality is described using the OCEAN model, social ties using contact duration and frequency of conference attendees (they were equipped with smartphones). User similarity in terms of personality is computed using Pearson's correlation between two persons' OCEAN scores treated as a vector. The similarity between two attendees concerning social ties is computed as a product of their contact frequency and duration. Based on these two kinds of similarity, the authors present a hybrid system that linearly combines the personality and social tie similarities between users. The system alleviates cold start for users with low social tie strength (e.g., users who just arrived at the conference) by resorting to using personality only.

Yang and Huang propose a personality-aware recommender for *computer games* (Yang and Huang, 2019). They predict players' OCEAN traits from their social media posts employing methods of personality recognition from texts, in particular, natural language processing techniques. Games are also assigned personality scores based on the personality of their players and based on results of personality recognition applied to game reviews. The target user is then recommended games that are played by users with a similar personality, an approach that resembles memory-based collaborative filtering where similarities are computed over personality trait vectors rather than rating vectors. Alternatively, the target user is recommended games similar to the games the user interacted with, which resembles content-based filtering

where game content is modeled by predicted "personality" of the game.

Adaji et al. present a graph-based approach for recommending *recipes* using personality information of users of an online social networking site for cooking (Adaji *et al.*, 2018). The authors extract OCEAN scores from users' reviews and describe each recipe by the dominant personality trait of its reviewers. A graph is then constructed in which nodes (recipes) are connected by edges indicating that the same user has reviewed them. Recipes are weighted by the number of reviews received; edges are weighted by the number of users who reviewed both recipes the edge connects. The authors propose to alleviate cold start by first creating a recipe subgraph that only contains the recipes whose dominant "personality" matches that of the new user. Recipes are then recommended starting at the node with the highest weight and traversing the graph in decreasing order of edge weight.

Nalmpantis and Tjortjis present a simple method to include personality into a *movie* recommender system (Nalmpantis and Tjortjis, 2017). Based on the OCEAN traits of the target user, the authors compute the Manhattan distance between the user's traits and the traits assigned to each genre in a list of movie genres with personality annotations created by (Cantador *et al.*, 2013). The proposed system, which is based on a nearest neighbor collaborative filtering approach, then predicts ratings as a linear combination between the movie ratings predicted by the CF component and the user's personality-based genre distance to the movie's genre under consideration.

Gelli et al. integrate personality information into an *image* recommender system, framed as the task of predicting interactions of users with images shared on Twitter (Gelli *et al.*, 2017). To this end, the authors propose a context-aware factorization machine that integrates both sparse features (user–item interactions) and dense feature vectors, such as multimedia content descriptors or user side information. As dense features, they include the users' OCEAN scores and visual concept vectors of the images under consideration into the model, to learn a joint representation. Personality scores of the Twitter users are extracted from their shared posts using the Apply Magic Sauce API.³

³https://applymagicsauce.com

Personality information is often considered in recommender systems to tailor the level of *diversification* of recommended items to the user's needs, relying on studies that show that personality is correlated with a preference for diversity, e.g., (Tintarev et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2018; Ferwerda et al., 2017a). For instance, Lu and Tintarev propose a music recommendation system that adapts to users' personality factors and their diversity needs on music preferences (Lu and Tintarev, 2018). They rerank results of a collaborative filtering approach by linearly combining the original rank of each item (song) produced by collaborative filtering and the degree of diversity that the item contributes to the recommendation list, integrating personality as a weighting term into the objective function used for reranking. The authors describe users' personality according to the OCEAN model and define diversity as intra-list diversity, i.e., averaged pairwise distance between all items in the recommendation list. These distances are computed on item features, namely music key, genre, and the number of artists. In a pilot study, the authors found these three features to be most correlated to personality traits. For instance, extraversion was correlated with diversity in terms of music key, as well as agreeableness and diversity in the number of artists. Based on such correlations, Lu and Tintarev then map each personality factor to a desired level of diversity and integrate this as a weighting term into the objective function used for reranking.

Wu et al. propose an approach for recommending *interest groups* to join for users of an online social network (Wu *et al.*, 2018). The approach tackles cold start and tailoring recommendations to the user's desired level of diversity by integrating personality information into a user-based CF system. The authors elicit OCEAN scores and linearly combine user similarity in terms of item ratings and personality-based user similarity to alleviate cold start. The personality-based similarity is defined as the Euclidean distance between two users' personality scores. Adjusting diversity is achieved by integrating findings of a pilot study in which the authors use OCEAN traits to predict diversity preferences of users of a Chinese social network site. Thereby, diversity of a user is measured as entropy over categories of interest groups (e.g., sports or culture) the user joined on the site. The recommender system then adjusts the level of item diversity in the recommendation list so that it

best matches the diversity level desired by the target user (as estimated from his or her personality traits).

Fernandez-Tobias et al. propose a personality-aware recommender system, which they evaluate for recommending *books*, *movies*, and *music* (Fernandez-Tobias *et al.*, 2016). Among other contributions (e.g., on active learning and cross-domain recommendation), the authors extend the classical matrix factorization approach commonly used in modelbased collaborative filtering by integrating a user latent factor that describes their personality in terms of the five dimensions of the OCEAN model. The proposed personality-based matrix factorization approach can deal with implicit feedback data, i.e., information on user-item interactions beyond explicit ratings, such as clicks, purchases, or the frequency of item consumption.

2.2.3 Personality Traits in Group Recommender Systems

Personality can also be taken into account in group recommendation scenarios to improve the quality of group decisions and increase user satisfaction. In groups of users, especially heterogeneous groups, a conflict situation may arise quickly since group members have different personality traits, which leads to contradicts in terms of the preferences of group members (Recio-Garcia *et al.*, 2009). Thereby, generating group recommendations by solely aggregating group members' preferences, using standard social choice functions (Felfernig *et al.*, 2018a; Masthoff, 2011), might not reflect the overall satisfaction of a group (Quijano-Sanchez *et al.*, 2010).

More recently, some novel methods have been proposed to create group recommendations considering different types of group members' personalities. For instance, Rossi and Cervone (2016) propose a group recommendation approach that considers the *agreeableness* factor. The authors argue that in choosing an item in a group of close friends, agreeableness, being related to *altruistic behavior* (Costa and McCrae, 1995), plays a crucial role. An agreeable person tends to compromise and avoid items that are not in the interest of others. Based on this idea, instead of defining a specific social choice function that considers the agreeableness factor, the proposed solution uses the definition of an individual *utility function* to evaluate the item rating of each group member. The underlying idea of this function is "the user satisfaction if the recommender system chooses that item for the group". This function conforms to the model proposed by Charness and Rabin (2002) that maximizes the social welfare and increases the sum of group members' payoffs. The utility function measures how much a group member likes to increase social surplus, caring about helping himself/herself and others with low payoffs. In another work, Delic *et al.* (2017) conduct a user study in the travel destination domain to explore the satisfaction levels of individual group members with the final group decision. The authors find out that group members are highly satisfied with the outcome of group negotiations when the final group decision matches their initial preferences. Besides, they indicate that individual satisfaction is correlated with the Big Five personality traits of group members. The satisfaction with the final group decision is positively correlated with the traits agreeableness and conscientiousness and negatively correlated with the trait *neuroticism*.

Personality traits of group members can also be exploited in group recommender systems to resolve conflict situations in group decisions. Nguyen et al. (2019), Quijano-Sanchez et al. (2010), and Recio-Garcia et al. (2009) characterize the personality of group members using the Thomas-Kilmann Conflict Mode Instrument (TKI) model (Thomas and Kilmann, 1974). This model describes a group member's behavior in conflict situations according to two dimensions: assertiveness and cooperativeness. These dimensions are the extent to which an individual attempts to satisfy his/her own (assertiveness) and other people's preferences (cooperativeness) (Nguyen et al., 2019). The dimensions can be used to define five personality modes of conflict resolution: (i) competing (assertive and uncooperative), (ii) collaborating (assertive and cooperative), (iii) avoiding (unassertive and uncooperative), (iv) accommodating (unassertive and cooperative), and (v) compromising (moderately assertive and cooperative) (Nguyen et al., 2019; Recio-Garcia et al., 2009). Although these studies share the common idea of exploiting the personality of group members for conflict resolution, they show different points of view in modeling the dimensions assertiveness and cooperativeness. Nguyen et al. (2019) model assertiveness as the

probability that group members propose items to the discussion that are highly related to their preferences. Thereby, the probability increases if a group member is assertive and decreases otherwise. In contrast, the authors model *cooperativeness* with the probability that a group member gives positive and negative evaluations to items proposed by other group members. A group member with a high cooperativeness tends to have a higher probability of giving positive feedback and a lower probability of giving negative feedback. Quijano-Sanchez et al. (2010) and Recio-Garcia *et al.* (2009) estimate the *assertiveness* and *cooperativeness* of a group member based on the sum of the coefficients of his/her personality modes specified by the TKI model (i.e., *competing*, collaborating, avoiding, accommodating and compromising). These two dimensions are combined to estimate a Conflict Mode Weight (CMW) indicating how selfish or cooperative a group member is. The CMW value is in the range of [0..1], where " θ " reflects a very cooperative person and "1" reflects a very selfish one. The rating of a group member u for a specific item can then be predicted by considering the difference between CMW(u) and any other user v in the group (CMW(v)), e.g., in a simple user-based CF fashion. Recio-Garcia et al. (2009) also apply a CF approach to first recommend the best items for each group member (we assume $Best_u$ consists of the best items recommended to a group member u using the CF approach). After that, the preferences of individual group members for each item in $Best_u$ are merged using the minimization misery procedure (O'Connor et al., 2001). The general idea of this procedure is to minimize as much as possible the misery within the group. For further details of this recommendation approach, we refer to (Recio-Garcia *et al.*, 2009).

2.2.4 Discussion

As illustrated by the reviewed works, personality has a significant impact on user preferences and behavior. The use of personality traits in personalized recommender systems helps alleviate cold-start problems and bears the potential to improve the level of personalization, also in terms of diversification of recommendation results. However, to date, it is not well understood to which extent personality influences perceived recommendation quality; neither is the variability of this extent between users. For some users and domains, tailoring recommendations to personality traits might be valuable to recommend items that fit their personality; for others, personality could be an irrelevant signal, which could even be perceived as invasive concerning privacy and ethics. Incorporating personality in a privacy-aware fashion is an open issue.

Also, current approaches integrate personality in quite simplistic ways, e.g., by linearly combining a content-based similarity with a personality/user-based similarity metric. Only in a very recent article, Beheshti *et al.* (2020) incorporate personality information as features in a neural embedding framework in the larger context of a so-called cognitive recommender system.

Furthermore, manifold instruments and frameworks exist to elicit personality traits. However, the question of when to use which and what quality can be achieved is still the subject of more detailed investigation. The same holds for the willingness of users to fill out a questionnaire containing tens or even hundreds of questions.

Finally, how to model the "personality" of an item is still an under researched question. More sophisticated methods to derive personality traits on the item level are required. One recent example in this vein is the approach by Sertkan *et al.* (2019).

2.3 Affect-aware Recommender Systems

Affect plays a crucial role in human life. Human affect is commonly categorized into *mood* and *emotion*. Mood refers to an affective experience of longer duration (minutes to hours) but lower intensity, emotion to an affective response of shorter duration (seconds to minutes) to a particular stimulus. Like personality, both mood and emotion are fundamental human characteristics and have been in the focus of psychological research for a long time. They are known to influence our decision making and preferences (Shiv and Fedorikhin, 1999), for example in the domain of videos (Orellana-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2015), fashion (Piazza *et al.*, 2017), music (Ferwerda *et al.*, 2017b), movies (Golbeck and Norris, 2013), or books (Rentfrow *et al.*, 2011); or the need for diversity in recommendation lists (Chen *et al.*, 2013b; Wu *et al.*, 2013) and reading choices in online news (Mizgajski and Morzy, 2019). In addition, consumption of media items plays a vital role for human mood regulation. In the context of music, mood regulation was even identified as one of the main purposes why people listen to music (Schäfer, 2016).

It has also been shown that humans with different personality traits perceive different emotions when listening to the same piece of music (Schedl *et al.*, 2018). Emotion is a well-explored contextual factor in context-aware recommender systems (e.g., (Zheng, 2013)).

2.3.1 Modeling Affect

Focusing on describing emotions, we can distinguish between *categorical* models and *dimensional* models. The former describes emotions using a predefined vocabulary of basic emotion terms (e.g., happy, sad, angry, or relaxed) or secondary emotions that are reactions to primary ones (e.g., energetic, lonely, confused, or hopeful). Dimensional models, in contrast, describe emotions by assigning them values in a continuous space, which is most commonly spanned by the two dimensions valence (V) and arousal (A), according to Russell (Russell, 1980). Valence refers to the level of the pleasantness of emotion (positive vs. negative), while arousal refers to the emotion's intensity (high vs. low). The V/A space is sometimes complemented by a third dimension that describes how much in control of the respective emotion a person is (dominant vs. submissive). This dimension is commonly called *dominance* by Mehrabian (Mehrabian, 1980), potency, or control according to Fontaine et al. (Fontaine et al., 2007). An illustration of the valence-arousal plane with several affective terms mapped to it can be found in Figure 2.2.

2.3.2 Affect in Recommender Systems

To create affect-aware recommender systems, we need to infer the mood or emotion of the user, identify relationships between the user's affective state and item preferences, and finally match users and items constrained to some function that describes affective relationships (Tkalcic *et al.*, 2011). Most often, both users and items are represented in the same



Figure 2.2: Some categorical affective terms mapped to valence–arousal plane (Knees *et al.*, 2019).

affective space to enable direct computation of similarities between users and items.

Ravi and Vairavasundaram (2017) present a recommender system for *locations* that leverages users' emotions, and their locations shared in a location-based social network. To establish associations between locations and emotions as well as users and emotions, the authors adopt a lexicon-based approach to identify emotion words in user posts shared at a particular location. Emotions are described using a categorical model of positive emotion categories (happy, like, and surprised) and negative categories (angry, sad, fear, and hate). As a result, each user and each location is described by an emotion vector, which allows computing emotion similarity between users and items. The authors propose adaptations of user-based and item-based collaborative filtering to make recommendations. The user-based collaborative filtering model recommends locations to the target user u based on the product of two components: overall emotional similarity to other users v (irrespective of location) and similarity between u's current emotion and the emotion v expressed when visiting the location under consideration. The proposed item-based collaborative filtering model uses the emotionally

most similar locations to those locations l already visited by the target user u and weighs them with the similarity between u's current emotion and u's emotion when visiting l. Cosine similarity is used for all similarity calculations. A hybrid system is also proposed, as a simple linear combination of the user-based and items-based prediction scores.

Deng *et al.* (2015) propose a similar approach while using other resources and targeting another recommendation domain, i.e., music. The authors extract emotion information and music listening information from a popular Chinese microblogging service. They adopt a lexiconbased approach using various Chinese text resources and emoticons to infer emotions of microblogs. Emotions are described using different categorical models of varying granularity (from 2 to 21 emotion categories). To be able to compute similarities, a user's emotional context is then defined by a vector representation over the dimensions of the applied emotion model, where each dimension contains the frequency of terms belonging to the respective emotion category in the user's most recent microblogs. Contextual relationships between emotions and songs for a given user are established by considering the emotions reflected in the user's posts directly before his or her posting of a music listening event. This way, each pair of user and song (listened to by the user) is assigned an emotion vector. For recommending songs, the authors define a user-based collaborative filtering model, an item-based collaborative filtering model, a hybrid of the two, and a random walk model. The former three are almost identical to Ravi and Vairavasundaram (2017), but use songs instead of locations as items. For the random walk approach, the authors construct a bipartite graph of users, emotional contexts (merged by clustering), and songs. They adapt a variant of PageRank to traverse the graph and effect recommendations.

Ayata *et al.* (2018) propose a framework for emotion recognition that can be integrated into *music* recommender systems. The authors gather various physiological signals through wearable sensors (measuring, for instance, skin conductance or heart rate). From the sensor data, several features are computed using different statistical summaries of the physiological measurements (e.g., min, max, mean, variance, median, skewness, and kurtosis) within time windows. These features are used to predict the user's emotional state, where emotions are described using the V/A model. The authors then conceptualize a music recommendation architecture that integrates the affective response of the previous recommended song on the user and adapts future recommendations based on this response.

2.3.3 Discussion

The discussed works show that both emotion and mood are beneficial in context-aware recommendation scenarios, such as location-based recommendations, and in scenarios in which recommended items have a strong affective impact on users, such as music recommender systems. As shown by the literature, users' affective states can be exploited to tailor recommendations to the needs of an individual.

A shortcoming of current research is that it largely neglects dynamic changes in mood or emotion during item consumption. We see further potential to research on detecting such changes and integrating affect dynamics into recommender systems. Besides, as in the case of personality, to which extent a user's mood or emotion influences the perceived recommendation quality is not well understood either and another challenge for future research.

An additional limitation of current work on affect-aware recommenders is that they assign one affective state to the user, neglecting the differences between expressed, perceived, and induced emotion. This is in contrast to psychological literature, which makes a clear distinction between those kinds of emotions. This distinction is particularly important for recommenders in the entertainment domain, with typical strong emotional attachment of users. Expressed emotion refers to the emotion the creator of an item, such as a photographer or composer, intended to express when creating the item. Perceived emotion refers to the emotion the user (e.g., viewer or listener) perceives when exposed to the item. Induced emotion is the emotion truly experienced or felt by the user. Since these three categories of emotions may be very different (Juslin and Laukka, 2004; Schedl *et al.*, 2018), an emotion-aware recommender system should be able to distinguish between them and incorporate them in multifaceted ways.

Finally, mood and emotion constitute sensitive information. There-

fore, more research is needed to make emotion detection and inclusion of emotion as a contextual factor in recommender systems privacy-aware.

Recommender Systems and Human Decision Making

So far, in this survey, we focused on recommendation techniques and systems that use psychological features of the user in the recommendation process. In this section, we discuss works that investigate how recommender systems influence human decision making. In addition to helping users make decisions, recommender systems also persuade users (Yoo *et al.*, 2012) and influence human choices. Here, several psychological mechanisms should be taken into account. In the following, we review works that discuss such mechanisms in light of recommender systems research.

When users interact with a recommender system, they make decisions; for instance, they choose an item from the recommendation list (Chen *et al.*, 2013a). Decision making is a fundamental cognitive process that has been studied for decades by renowned psychologists such as Kahneman (Kahneman, 2011), Stanovich (Stanovich and West, 1998), Loewenstein (Loewenstein and Lerner, 2003), Gigerenzer (Gigerenzer and Gaissmaier, 2011), Thaler (Thaler, 1980), or Tversky (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974), who describe the process of users' decision making as being not completely rational (Stanovich and West, 1998; Kahneman, 2003), in cases guided by affect (Loewenstein and Lerner, 2003), influenced by biases and heuristics (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974), and anchor effects (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974), or subject to bounded rationality (Simon, 1966), which means that cognitive limitations of the decision maker impact rational decisions.

Such factors can lead to sub-optimal decision outcomes. The reason for this is that users frequently do not try to optimize a decision outcome, but instead apply decision heuristics (Payne et al., 1993). Bettman et al. (1998) describe that while users' preferences evolve in the course of a decision process, they typically cannot state these from the very beginning. Thus, human decision making is more focused on constructing preferences than on *eliciting* preferences. Correspondingly, in the case of recommender systems, users often do not know their preferences beforehand but construct and frequently adapt these within the scope of the recommendation process (Mandl et al., 2011). Please note that the Recommender Systems Handbook dedicates a chapter to human decision making and recommender systems (Jameson et al., 2015). Besides, Teppan and Zanker (2015) present an empirical study of several decision biases in recommender systems. They investigate three types of biases, i.e., decoy effects (Teppan and Felfernig, 2009a; Teppan and Felfernig, 2009b), serial position effects (Felfernig *et al.*, 2007), and framing (Tversky and Kahneman, 1981). Adomavicius et al. (2013) discuss anchoring effects (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974; Chapman and Johnson, 2002), which influence the decisions of users if they are presented with an initial proposed value for available options.

Furthermore, decision making behavior varies between users. The work of Jameson *et al.* (2015) describes a variety of choice patterns observed in users and outlines how recommender systems can support such patterns. Karimi *et al.* (2015) investigate the variance of user decision making behaviors on the basis of analyzing four archetypes of online customers. The authors find that the decision making behavior of users significantly differs depending on the nature of the decisions (i.e., number of cycles, duration, number of alternatives and number of criteria). Jugovac *et al.* (2018) present a study on how to adapt recommender systems to such different decision-making styles.

In the next sections, we summarize research efforts on relevant factors that influence decision making and which can impact the likelihood of recommended items being selected by a user. Besides, we discuss further aspects of counteracting decision biases. Please note that, we focus on approaches to mitigate *decision biases* that occurred in users' interactions with recommender systems. The discussed solutions are user-interface oriented, which help to minimize the impact of decision biases at the rating collection time. In the current literature, there exist various approaches to eliminate biases in datasets, algorithms, and recommendation results; however, they are not our primary focus. For further related details of these approaches, we refer to (Chen *et al.*, 2020; Huang *et al.*, 2020).

3.1 Decoy Items

One decision bias results from users making decisions depending on the way decision alternatives are presented to them. A frequent decision heuristic in this context is an attribute-wise comparison between items (Payne et al., 1993). For example, the inclusion of items that are entirely inferior to other items in a list of alternatives can trigger changes in choice behaviors. Such inferior items are denoted as *decoy* items (D) (Huber et al., 1982), which can be used to increase the selection probability of a *target item* (T) and potentially decrease the selection probability of the *competitor item* (C). Such an effect is called context effect (or decoy effect). An illustration is provided in Figure 3.1. A target item T is regarded as a *compromise* between D and C if it is, for example, significantly less expensive than the decoy item and only has a slightly lower quality. Asymmetric dominance is given if the target item dominates the decoy item in all dimensions, whereas the competitor item dominates the decoy item in only one dimension. Finally, an *attraction effect* is triggered if the target item, for example, has a significantly higher quality and is only marginally more expensive.

A detailed analysis of different types of context effects in recommender systems is given in (Teppan and Felfernig, 2012; Teppan and Zanker, 2015). Here, the authors show that decoy items can be applied to increase the selection share of target items, which raises several ethical issues. Being able to identify decoy items in a result set also enables to de-bias the result set by simply omitting decoy items. Decoy



Figure 3.1: An overview of decoy effects. Figure from (Felfernig, 2014).

items can also be used to generate explanations in knowledge-based recommendation scenarios, e.g., via an attribute-wise comparison that led to the recommendation of specific items.

3.2 Serial Position Effects

Serial position effects can occur in settings where humans are presented with a list of items. These effects have been observed in the context of human memory research (Deese and Kaufman, 1957; Glanzer and Cunitz, 1966) to describe a person's tendency to more likely remember items at the beginning and end of a list (Ranjith, 2012). Figure 3.2 illustrates the effect.

Murphy et al. (2012) show such effects in the context of user link clicking behavior. In their study, links at the beginning of a list were clicked more often than items in the middle of a list, which is called *primacy effect*. Furthermore, there was an increased tendency to click on the links at the end of the list. That is described as the *recency effect*. Primacy and recency effects can also be observed in human memory. Cognitive psychologists showed in memory tests that items at the beginning of a list (primacy) are more easily memorized (Crowder, 2014) since first items having an advantage over later items because memory capacity is limited (Waugh and Norman, 1965). The last items



Figure 3.2: This plot (Commons, 2020) shows a U-shaped serial position curve that results from a serial position effect. The effect occurs when a list of words is recalled and words from the start and the end of the list are more likely recalled than words in the middle of the list (Ranjith, 2012).

in a list (recency) are also more easily remembered since they may be still in the short-term memory during the memory test. Felfernig *et al.* (2007) discuss primacy/recency effects in the context of dialogs in knowledgebased recommendation scenarios. They found that product attributes presented to a user at the beginning and the end of a dialog are recalled more often than items in the middle of a list. These attributes are also the preferred criteria when selecting items from a recommendation list. This still holds in situations where unfamiliar product properties are presented at the beginning and the end of a recommendation dialog. Schnabel *et al.* (2016) present a recommendation interface that enables the user to create shortlists of items that the user is currently considering. A user study reveals that the interface helps users memorize and compare choices and that many users explore more instead of being satisfied with the first good item.

Stettinger *et al.* (2015a) analyze the existence of serial position effects in the context of restaurant reviews. The authors show that the same arguments arranged in different orders can lead to significantly different perceptions of restaurant attractiveness. Similar to decoy effects, serial position effects can be used to influence the selection behavior of users. Serial position effects are also investigated in the context of group decision making. Tran *et al.* (2018) investigate serial position effects in scenarios where the same group of users has to solve a series of decision making tasks in different item domains (*low-* and *high-involvement* item domains). The authors examine whether the order of decision tasks result in different decision making behaviors of group members. Related empirical results show that the group recommendation strategy applied in decisions with high related decision efforts tends to be re-used by group members in the follow-up decision with low related decision effort.

Hofmann *et al.* (2014) explore position bias (Joachims *et al.*, 2017) in light of click-based recommender systems evaluation. Position bias is a problem in click-based evaluation, since the probability that an item will be clicked is influenced by its relevancy and its position in the recommendation list. Related work finds that the probability that an item of a top-N list is clicked decays with its rank (Craswell *et al.*, 2008). Hofmann *et al.* (2014) find that if no position bias is present, user behavior (i.e., items a user will click) can be predicted based on historic rating data and using error-based metrics such as precision. However, if position biases exist, the performance of the recommender systems can be wrongly estimated if a performance metric is chosen that does not well reflect the actual user behavior.

In order to counteract serial position effects in group decision making, Stettinger et al. (2015b) proposed a solution that allows group members to evaluate items based on MAUT (Multi-Attribute Utility Theory) dimensions (Dyer, 2005). With this approach, a group member evaluates an item by articulating his/her preferences for different dimensions that describe the item. The authors conducted a user study in the restaurant domain, where a restaurant was evaluated based on the following dimensions: "ambience", "price", "quality", and "location". A MAUT-based group recommendation for a specific item is the sum of *individual MAUT values* of group members in the group decision task. The individual MAUT value of a group member is a weighted average of all personal ratings of an item's dimensions. In the user study, participants were shown a list of restaurants. Each restaurant was described by a list of arguments describing the restaurants. The arguments were tailored in two types: (1) the negative salient description where the negative arguments of the restaurant were placed at the beginning and the end of the description, and (2) the positive salient *description* where the positive arguments of the restaurant were placed at the beginning and the end of the description. The participants were

asked to evaluate the restaurant based on the aforementioned dimensions. The user study aimed to examine if the participants' item evaluations were different according to the description type. The experimental results show no significant differences in terms of evaluation values between the two description types. In other words, adopting the MAUT strategy in the item evaluation phase can help to counteract position effects in group decision making.

3.3 Framing Effects

Framing corresponds to the principle that human decisions are influenced by the way options are presented through different wordings, settings, and situations (Tversky and Kahneman, 1981). Framing often comes in the form of gains or losses, as in prospect theory (Tversky and Kahneman, 1992). This theory demonstrates that a loss is perceived as more significant and more worthy of avoiding than an equivalent gain. In the hierarchy of choice architecture, a sure gain is preferred to a probable one, and a probable loss is preferred to a sure loss. Choices can also be worded in a way that highlights the positive or negative aspects of the same decision, and thus prompting affective user responses. The paper by Mandl *et al.* (2011) gives a concise overview of the use of different types of framing effects in recommender systems.

3.4 Anchoring Effects

Anchoring effects are a cognitive bias that makes users rely on the first piece of information (i.e., the anchor) they receive when making subsequent decisions. As pointed out in different social psychology studies, early preference visibility can harm the quality of a decision outcome (Mojzisch and Schulz-Hardt, 2010). Adomavicius *et al.* (2011) find evidence for the anchoring effect in a collaborative filtering scenario. Specifically, they show that anchoring effects can be triggered by disclosing the average rating of similar users. This is verified in a user study presented by Zhang (2011). Köcher *et al.* (2019) provide evidence for a so-called attribute-level anchoring effect that can bias the choices of users towards numerical attributes of product recommen-

dations. Adomavicius *et al.* (2014) also present an approach to de-bias ratings to mitigate anchoring effects using a post-hoc algorithm, as well as a user interface to minimize anchoring biases already when ratings are collected.

Anchoring effects can also be triggered in group recommendation scenarios when one group member's evaluations for items are influenced by the evaluations articulated earlier by other group members. Socialpsychological studies point out the correlation between anchoring biases with *confirmation biases*, in which group members tend to focus on discussing available information rather than exploring and sharing new decision-relevant information (Felfernig *et al.*, 2018b). To investigate the impact of anchoring effects in group decision making, Stettinger et al. (2015a) conducted a user study in the requirements engineering where groups of stakeholders had to decide on which requirements should be implemented in their software project. The authors showed that the occurrence probability of an anchoring effect increases if individual group members' preferences are disclosed to others in the early phase of the group decision making process. This brings the idea of counteracting anchoring effects that the preference disclosure should be performed after group members have articulated their preferences for items. The authors also proved that a late preference disclosure helps to increase the group decision performance in terms of user satisfaction, the perceived degree of decision support, the understandability of group recommendations, and the consideration of individual group members' preferences.

3.5 Nudging

Nudging is a concept from behavioral economics to influence human behavior via suggestions towards choices in the users' and societies' longterm interests (Thaler and Sunstein, 2009). Nudges are interventions that aim to predictably influence human behavior without limiting any options or significantly changing people's economic incentives (Thaler et al., 2013). Several psychological effects are exploited in nudging that impact decision making, such as those discussed in this chapter, including decision heuristics, the anchoring effect, decoy effects, framing, or the availability and similarity heuristics (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974). Given such effects, a choice architecture, i.e., an environment in which people make decisions (Thaler and Sunstein, 2009), is designed that guides people to decisions that are to their and society's advantage (Jesse and Jannach, 2021). Various such effects are described, and the survey paper by Jesse and Jannach (2021) gives a comprehensive overview of the underlying psychological phenomena of nudging.

Recommendations can be seen as a form of nudging, where the aim is to recommend items that support the nudging goal (Karlsen and Andersen, 2019). Please note that the paper by Jesse and Jannach (2021) gives a structured review of the state-of-the-art of nudging with recommender systems, for a review of nudging in human-computer interaction research, see Caraban *et al.* (2019).

Karlsen and Andersen (2019) present an architecture for nudging recommender systems. As an illustrative example, the authors define the use of nudges to convince people to use environmentally friendly transportation. They introduce a nudge-driven filtering technique that recommends activities to a nudging goal (e.g., use environmentally friendly transportation). The activity is recommended based on a user profile that contains user characteristics and their history of previous activities and behaviors, the user's current context, and the next planned activities. To present the nudges to the user, the authors exploit several decision biases, i.e., framing, anchors, reminders, or social norms (e.g., showing how many others have chosen a particular option (Starke et al., (2020)). Elsweiler *et al.* (2017) aim to nudge people to make better health decisions by recommending them healthy content. In this work, the authors investigate if food recommender systems can nudge users of an online recipe platform towards selecting healthier meals. First, they study if meals in the platform can be replaced with similar but healthier options (in terms of fat content) that also receive high ratings. Then, they conduct a user study to identify if users can distinguish between unhealthy and healthy dishes and find that many cannot tell the difference, still users tend to select the unhealthier option. In addition, they examine how cues such as recipe title, an image of the meal, and a list of ingredients influence users when selecting recipes and show that users can be nudged to choose healthy over unhealthy recipes; this works particularly well based on visual cues. Esposito et al. (2017) introduce nudges to prevent customers in a digital marketplace to purchase incompatible products. In a user study, they evaluate different types of nudges and find that nudges in the form of emotive warning messages and incompatibility information at the checkout page reduce the number of incompatibility purchases. Turland *et al.* (2015) aim to nudge users towards selecting more secure public wireless networks by recommending more secure network alternatives. They found evidence for a decoy effect that nudged users in choosing a secure network.

3.6 Discussion

As pointed out by Teppan and Zanker (Teppan and Zanker, 2015), current recommender systems typically cannot control decision biases, and more research is needed in this direction. From a user perspective, the awareness of the existence of decision biases is essential to make more informed decisions when interacting with a recommender system. Psychology-informed recommender systems that are aware of decision biases can help educate users and make them aware of their own biases in decision making, e.g., via explanations. Another possibility for future research is to study how biases change over time and how these changes impact a user's preferences and behavior.

System-induced biases such as popularity biases (Cremonesi *et al.*, 2010) can be reinforced when already popular items are always put on top of a recommendation list (i.e., exploiting serial position effects). Future research can investigate whether different user groups experience different recommendation utility due to biases such as popularity and demographic biases (Ekstrand *et al.*, 2018). Also, while most related work has been on detecting decision biases in recommendation scenarios, we need more research on proactively preventing or minimizing such biases.

Furthermore, commercial recommendation platforms often actively exploit decision biases of humans to nudge users to adopt a specific behavior or to persuade users to make particular decisions, e.g., what to buy or what to read. This can be beneficial to the user, e.g., when a relevant recommended item is presented prominently. However, it can also be harmful, e.g., in case of decision manipulation (Tran et al., 2019b) and since not all nudges and persuasive mechanisms are helpful and to the user's advantage. For example, marketers may employ nudges to guide consumers towards non-essential options (Schneider et al., 2018). Consequently, ethical concerns and discussions around the concept of nudging and persuasion have emerged (Sunstein, 2015). These discussions gave room for a competing framework termed *boosting* by Grüne-Yanoff and Hertwig (2016). Boosting attempts to help users improve their competencies in decision making instead of nudging them (Hertwig and Grüne-Yanoff, 2017). Grüne-Yanoff et al. (2018) distinguishes between boosting and nudging in two aspects: firstly, boosting aims to expand people's competencies by overcoming human cognitive limitations rather than exploiting them. Secondly, a nudge intervenes in a person's choice environment and exploits specific decision heuristics to guide behavioral change, boosting intervenes on people's decision heuristics and expands their decision competencies to foster a specific behavioral change. While, to the best of our knowledge, boosting has not vet been explicitly employed in recommender systems research. there exist related examples in the information retrieval community e.g., Zimmerman et al. (2020) and Ortloff et al. (2021) employ boosting to boost users' competencies in searching while preserving their privacy. Bateman *et al.* (2012) provide a search dashboard to make users reflect on their search behavior by comparing it to the behavior of expert searchers. Moraveji et al. (2011) boost the search skills of participants in a user study by offering them tips on conducting optimal searches. In a follow-up study, the authors find that the study participants retain their improved search skills compared to a control group also in the absence of search tips.

We believe that boosting is a promising research area for the recommender systems community. For example, boosting can be applied to improve user knowledge about decision biases and underlying mechanisms of the recommender systems, including the implications of users' behavior on the prediction quality. An advantage would be that some of the ethical concerns that come with nudging and persuasion in recommender systems could be alleviated as well.

User-centric Recommender Systems Evaluation

This chapter discusses research works that investigate recommender systems' evaluation with a particular focus on the user perspective. In addition, we review factors that influence how users experience and engage with recommender systems. In the next paragraphs, we, nevertheless, briefly summarize core concepts of classic evaluation metrics and strategies.

Recommendation evaluation has traditionally centered on the accuracy of algorithms (Pu *et al.*, 2012) by quantifying the relevance of recommendations to a user's preferences. To that end, typically, metrics of accuracy are employed such as precision, recall, or normalized discounted cumulative gain (Herlocker *et al.*, 2004). Please note that the survey of Gunawardana and Shani (2009) provides a detailed discussion of accuracy metrics in recommender systems research.

Classic recommender systems evaluation employs either offline, online evaluation (i.e., A/B testing), user studies, or a combination of these methods. In offline evaluation, a pre-collected dataset consisting of user-item interactions is leveraged to simulate users' behavior interacting with a recommender system (Shani and Gunawardana, 2011). Online evaluation corresponds to observing user behavior in real-world, deployed systems (Shani and Gunawardana, 2011). User studies denote an evaluation scenario where small groups of users interact with the recommender system and report their experience (Shani and Gunawardana, 2011). Please note that the respective chapter on evaluation in the Recommender Systems Handbook gives a concise overview of both recommendation evaluation metrics and commonly adopted evaluation strategies (Shani and Gunawardana, 2011).

Related work has discussed that accuracy as a sole metric is not sufficient to assess a recommender system's quality as accurate recommendations might not be perceived as the most useful recommendations (McNee *et al.*, 2006a; Herlocker *et al.*, 2004; Konstan and Riedl, 2012). As a remedy, a variety of so-called beyond-accuracy metrics have been introduced to quantify aspects beyond algorithmic performance. These metrics include *diversity* (Ziegler *et al.*, 2005), *coverage* (Herlocker *et al.*, 2017), or *novelty* and *serendipity* (Herlocker *et al.*, 2004). The latter quantifies how interesting, yet unexpected recommendations are for a user (McNee *et al.*, 2006a). Please note that the survey by Kaminskas and Bridge (2016) gives a concise overview of standard beyond-accuracy metrics used in recommender systems research.

4.1 Psychological Aspects of User Experience

Recommender system evaluation from the user perspective requires a systemic approach beyond the investigation of single actors such as algorithms or users and aims to capture the actors' inter-relations and emerging phenomena, such as user experiences (Ekstrand and Willemsen, 2016; Knijnenburg *et al.*, 2012a; McNee *et al.*, 2006b). Given that recommender systems' providers aim to motivate users to return to the system, users must build trust and have a positive perception of the system and its outcomes (Chen and Pu, 2005). Hence, the *user experience* with a recommender system has become the subject of research. User experience is defined by Konstan and Riedl (2012) as the delivery of recommender system outputs to users and the interactions of users with recommendations. In studying the user experience, crucial aspects

of recommender systems can be unveiled, such as recommender systems' use and perceived value, and factors related to items, users, user-item interactions, which influence the users' decision-making processes (Xiao and Benbasat, 2007). Such factors include users' attitudes and motivations, their perceived trust in the algorithms, and issues related to the perception of recommender systems in general (Shin, 2020).

Related work investigates the user experience of recommender systems in light of various tasks, e.g., to improve preference elicitation (Mc-Nee *et al.*, 2003), increase user satisfaction (Ziegler *et al.*, 2005), study user engagement (O'Brien and Toms, 2008), inspire trust in the system (Pu and Chen, 2006), improve recommendation interfaces (Cosley *et al.*, 2003), or quantify how likely a user will return and recommend a novel system (O'Brien and Toms, 2010).

From a psychological perspective, several factors influence how users experience and engage with recommender systems, such as cognitive dissonance (Festinger, 1954), the persuasiveness of the systems (Fogg, 2002; O'keefe, 2015), perceived system qualities related to interaction and interfaces (Pu *et al.*, 2011; Jugovac and Jannach, 2017), or several attitudes and beliefs (Pu *et al.*, 2011). In the following, we discuss these factors in more detail.

4.1.1 Cognitive Dissonance

Cognitive dissonance denotes a cognitive-affective response to being exposed to information that contradicts one's beliefs and values (Festinger, 1954). Users of recommender systems may experience dissonance after reevaluating a choice they made because they followed a recommendation (Surendren and Bhuvaneswari, 2014) or when being confronted with a recommendation inconsistent with their preferences (Schwind et al., 2011). Dissonance is an aversive cognitive-affective state that users attempt to avoid (Surendren and Bhuvaneswari, 2014) and may make them lose trust in the system (Kuan et al., 2007). Schwind et al. (2011), however, explore potential benefits of dissonant recommendations. Concretely, they study if recommending dissonant information for controversial issues helps mitigate confirmation bias. In an online user study conducted on Mechanical Turk, they investigate if users

select dissonant or consonant recommendations and assess cognitive and affective reactions to these recommendations. In the first experimental condition, the study participants are recommended an argument on a specific topic that is consonant with the participant's view. In the second condition, they receive a recommendation with an argument that is inconsistent with their belief. The results show that when a consonant argument is recommended, more users select the consonant argument, and a confirmation bias can be observed. When a dissonant argument is recommended, however, users less frequently select the argument. Also, the consonant recommendations receive better evaluations in terms of cognitive and affective states. In later work, Schwind and Buder (2014) show that dissonant recommendations can help de-bias information selection. However, offering dissonant recommendations might also strengthen people's initial beliefs, mainly when the recommendation falls outside the boundaries of what users consider acceptable (Nguyen et al., 2007). Here, future work can investigate the relationship between cognitive dissonance, boosting (see Section 3.6), and counterfactual thinking (Roese, 1997). In the case of counterfactual thinking, consumers reflect on how outcomes could have been different if they had made different decisions (Wang et al., 2017).

4.1.2 Persuasion

Persuasion is a communication process in which a person seeks to convince other people to adapt their behavior and attitudes (Fogg, 2002; Perloff, 2020). Persuasion and the earlier described communicative process of nudging (see Section 3.5) are related concepts, which have originated in different communities, persuasion in social psychology (McGuire, 1969), and nudging in economics (Thaler and Sunstein, 2009), and with slightly different aims. While nudging aims to influence a user's behavior in a particular setting, persuasion aims to influence a person's attitude or behavior; for a more detailed comparison of both concepts, please refer to Meske and Potthoff (2017).

Yoo *et al.* (2012) describe a recommendation as being persuasive when it results in a change of the user's behavior or attitude. The authors elaborate that user interactions with a recommender system correspond to a communication process, in which the extent to which a user is influenced depends on four components: (i) the recommender system itself (source), (ii) the recommendation (message), (iii) the user (target), and (iv) the context, in which the recommendation is offered. These components are integral in the communication-persuasion paradigm, and multiple factors in the components impact if a user is persuaded and changes their behavior or attitude. As Gretzel and Fesenmaier (2006) show, persuasion can happen already during preference elicitation since transparent and short elicitation phases positively influence user satisfaction and perceived fit of later recommendations (Jugovac *et al.*, 2018).

Many studies investigate what makes a recommender persuasive. Related work finds the credibility of recommender systems (Yoo and Gretzel, 2011) is a decisive factor in a recommender system's persuasiveness. Nanou *et al.* (2010) observe that the presentation of recommendation lists in the context of movie recommendations influences persuasiveness. They compare top-N recommendation lists with a structured overview of recommendations, in which recommendations are organized by movie genre, and are presented either as purely textual recommendation lists or as multimodal representation of recommendations (text, images, video). The authors measure persuasiveness in terms of users selecting a recommendation. A small-scale user study with 20 users gives evidence that a structured overview of multimodal recommendations is more persuasive and results in higher user satisfaction in their domain than a textual recommendation list. Cremonesi *et al.* (2012) observe that the perceived novelty of recommendations has higher persuasive power than the perceived accuracy of recommendations (Jugovac et al., 2018). Felfernig *et al.* (2008a) report that the attractiveness of items contributes to a recommender system's persuasiveness and that the use of attraction decoy items can influence a user's decision-making process. Related work also shows that offering explanations to recommendations can make recommendations persuasive (Herlocker et al., 2000; Tintarev and Masthoff, 2012).

From an ethical perspective, persuasive technology raises several questions (Berdichevsky and Neuenschwander, 1999), naturally, also if applied to recommender systems (Milano *et al.*, 2020). Recommender

systems providers may offer persuasive recommendations to maximize some business value, which, from a consumer perspective, might be less transparent (Jesse and Jannach, 2021) and hard to resist (Smids, 2012). According to a standard definition of persuasive technology (Fogg, 2002), persuasion is about voluntary change and needs to function without deceiving the user.

4.1.3 Interaction Methods

Several perceived system qualities related to interaction and interfaces influence the user experience of recommendations. Knijnenburg and Willemsen (2015) find that the way lists of recommendations are composed and presented to the user strongly impacts user experience. Knijnenburg et al. (2011) construct five interaction methods: (i) a top-N recommendation list, (ii) a sort method that lets users sort recommendations by their preferred attribute, (iii) an explicit method that allows users to assign weights to attributes and thus, directly express their preferences, (iv) an implicit method that automatically weights attributes based on the user's browsing history, and (v) a hybrid combination of the explicit and implicit method. In a user study, the authors compare the five interaction methods and assess user interface satisfaction, trust in the system, system effectiveness, understandability, perceived control, and choice satisfaction. They find that most users are most satisfied with a hybrid recommender that combines implicit and explicit preference elicitation, which gives them some control over the system.

Bollen *et al.* (2010) finds that users, when presented a list of recommendations, tend to inspect only the first few items on the list due to the earlier mentioned primacy effect (see Section 3.2). Chen and Pu (2010b) find that presenting recommendations in the form of a grid can mitigate this issue; however, the authors do not discuss the underlying reasons for that. Another work by Chen and Pu (2010a) suggests a category-based interface, in which a user's top-N recommendations are shown as the main category, while other categories contain items that help find trade-offs. As shown by Hu and Pu (2011), an interface where recommendations are grouped into categories, which represent trade-off properties among items, can increase perceived recommendation diversity and improve user satisfaction. Ekstrand *et al.* (2014) present a user study in which each user is provided a recommendation list produced by three variants of collaborative filtering (i.e., item-based, user-based, and an SVD-based variant). The users are asked about their perceptions along five dimensions of interest, i.e., accuracy, personalization, diversity, novelty, and overall satisfaction with the recommendations. Then, they pairwise compare algorithms based on a first-impression preference and a subjective assessment of the recommendation lists for the five dimensions. Also, the users select their preferred algorithm for future use. The authors find that novelty of recommended items negatively influences the perceived usefulness of the recommendations. The diversity of recommendations positively influences if a user chooses a recommendation algorithm. Please note that Jugovac and Jannach (2017) give a detailed overview of relevant work on user interaction in recommender systems.

4.1.4 Attitudes and Beliefs

User-centric factors such as *attitudes and beliefs* also influence how users evaluate recommendations. Attitudes correspond to the perceived overall perception of the recommender system in terms of user satisfaction and trust, while beliefs describe the user's perception of the usefulness, ease of use, and control of the system (Cremonesi et al., 2011a; Pu et al., 2011). Swearingen and Sinha (2002) find that showing familiar recommendations can increase users' trust in the system. The familiarity principle (Zajonc, 1968) is a psychological effect that makes users establish positive preferences for items to which they are frequently and consistently exposed. Bollen *et al.* (2010) present a user study to understand users' perception of recommendation set attractiveness, choice difficulty, and satisfaction with the selected recommendation. Participants answer 29 questions on a 7-point scale, and in addition, their clicks are logged. The authors fit a structural equation model (Ullman and Bentler, 2003) to the data to understand the interplay between recommendation set attractiveness, choice difficulty, and satisfaction with the chosen item. Please note that structural equation modeling techniques are statistical methods that enable to study relationships

between independent variables and dependent variables. Bollen et al. (2010) find that user satisfaction depends on the attractiveness of the recommendation set and on the difficulty of choosing from this set. Attractiveness is high if the items in the set vary. A low choice difficulty positively influences satisfaction. However, if the user is presented with more attractive sets, the choice difficulty becomes higher. Willemsen et al. (2016) investigate the influence of diversity of the item set on choice overload that arises when users have to select from many items. They find that small but diverse item sets help reduce choice overload and result in similar user satisfaction as top-N recommendations. Jin et al. (2019) examine the influence of user control over contextual factors incorporated in the recommendation process on perceived quality, diversity, effectiveness, and users' cognitive load. In a user study, they test two conditions: either the participants have no control over a music recommendation algorithm, or they can choose a particular context, i.e., mood, weather, and location, to which recommendations should be tailored. The study results show that users perceive the utility of recommendations differently when they can select a context. In particular, tailoring recommendations to a user's mood positively impacts recommendation quality and diversity.

4.2 Designing User Studies for Recommender Systems and Existing Evaluation Frameworks

Many research works in recommender systems employ offline evaluation studies, which retrospectively analyze available datasets for certain model-based predictions. While offline evaluation helps assess the internal validity of the recommendation model, it only allows for speculations about the actual user experience. Thus, offline evaluation needs to be complemented by methods that also enable insights into (i) latent user states (e.g., a user's perception of the system) and (ii) the ecological validity of the evaluation results. Both aspects can be addressed by user studies, which we outline next.

When running user studies, it is essential to consider principles of psychological measurement theory (Allen and Yen, 2001) and its application to construct reliable and valid self-report scales (McCroskey et al., 1984; Yannakakis and Hallam, 2011). Self-reports are tests and measures that require individuals to report on their behavior, beliefs, or attitudes. Self-reports are beneficial to elicit key aspects of user experiences, such as engagement (e.g., O'Brien and Toms, 2008), which has been shown to reliably predict perceived usability and endurability, i.e., how likely a user is to return to and recommend a novel system (O'Brien and Toms, 2010). The construction of self-report scales requires representative samples of participants and latent factor analysis. Here, a classic choice is to perform an Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) (Goretzko *et al.*, 2019) to group inter-item correlations into distinct dimensions (for a review and guideline of how to apply an EFA in the context of recommender systems, see, e.g., O'Brien and Toms, 2010). Subsequently, a Confirmatory Factor Analysis can be run on an independent dataset (gathered from additional user studies) to validate the previously explored factor structure.

For the systematic planning of user studies of recommender systems, Knijnenburg and Willemsen (2015) present a framework that facilitates the design of user studies. In particular, the framework describes how *objective system aspects* such as the algorithm or a presentation layout are perceived by the user and how the user's *perception* – denoted *subjective system aspects* (e.g., perceived recommendation quality and variety), in combination with *personal* and *situational characteristics*, influence the *user experience* and *interaction* with the recommender system. The situational and personal characteristics help account for context-relevant information (e.g., the user's current information goal) and individual variables (e.g., personality traits; see Section 2.2.2).

Similarly, Pu *et al.* (2011) introduce the *ResQue* framework to assess the perceived recommendation quality (e.g., attractiveness, novelty, diversity, and perceived accuracy of recommended items), usability, interface adequacy (e.g., information sufficiency and layout clarity), interaction quality (e.g., preference elicitation and revision), and the overall user satisfaction with the recommender system, as well as the influence of these aspects on the user's intention to buy recommended products and to revisit the system.

To conclusively explain observed effects such as perceived quality differences between algorithms, behavioral data such as user's interactions with recommendations can be triangulated with self-report data. For example, Knijnenburg *et al.* (2012b) demonstrate that two types of matrix factorization algorithms have the same effects on certain experience variables (e.g., perceived system effectiveness) but are mediated by different subjective system aspects (e.g., different dynamics between perceived diversity and quality). Such study outcomes are essential for the design and improvement of user interfaces, but can only result from the triangulation of behavioral and self-report data.

Due to its high degree of abstraction, the Knijnenburg et al. framework can help guide the systematic planning of research designs. Also, the framework provides a scheme for the formulation of experimentally testable research questions, and it provides guiding information for implementing and analyzing the planned research design, including the operationalization and measurement of the variables to be investigated (e.g., constructing new or using existing questionnaires) and a comprehensive data analysis (e.g., applying structural equation modeling techniques (Ullman and Bentler, 2003)).

4.3 Discussion

The reviewed works show that many factors influence how users experience and engage with recommender systems. One of them is cognitive dissonance. While dissonant recommendations that are inconsistent with the users' attitude could make them lose trust in the system, Schwind and Buder (2014) find that dissonant recommendations can help de-bias information selection. Future work can take a cognitivecomputational perspective on biased information behavior (e.g., inspired by self-directed search (Dubey and Griffiths, 2020)) to design recommender systems that help explore non-confirmatory information. Here, the relationship between experienced novelty and curiosity can be explored (e.g., Dubey and Griffiths (2020)): If novelty is perceived as either very high or rather low, an information seeker's curiosity drops; the optimal level of novelty – the sweet spot on the continuum – arises primarily at a moderate level (see also Berlyne (1966)). Future work can therefore investigate, whether a recommender system, drawing on these cognitive-computational accounts of information behavior, can identify

the sweet spot of novelty for a given user-subject combination and help identify resources that make the user curious about and willing to tap into them. Another strand for future research lies in exploring boosting in recommender systems to foster counterfactual thinking to de-bias information selection.

Jannach *et al.* (2019) state that research in recommender systems should strive towards *impact-oriented algorithms* that address the intended purpose of a system. The impact can be, e.g., to help users make better decisions and to increase user satisfaction. As the authors describe, persuasion can help achieve this goal. However, persuasion in recommender systems can decrease the user's possibility to develop their taste since humans tend to take the default setting if one is offered (Knijnenburg *et al.*, 2016).

In their work, Knijnenburg *et al.* (2016) call for personalized systems that aim to not just recommend the most relevant items to the user but to help users develop, explore, and understand their personal preferences. To that end, they suggest several recommendation lists that contain only items unrelated to the top-N, which means they are not "good" recommendations (e.g., items that the algorithm predicts a user will dislike or unrated items). Their intuition is that such recommendations will help the user learn about their taste and preferences. Including unrelated recommendations to increase the user's awareness of their preferences can lead to effective feedback mechanisms for recommender systems. On a more general note, such mechanisms can help users understand what assumptions the algorithm makes about them and enable them to correct such assumptions.

The way recommendations are presented also influences whether users are satisfied with a recommender system and the level of control users have in the process. Studying these questions in the context of psychological theories is still a largely unexplored field and requires more interdisciplinary research efforts.

In this chapter, we also discussed the design of studies for usercentric evaluation. From a methodological perspective, user-centric evaluation entails designing questionnaires and conducting user studies that help uncover intrinsic properties and characteristics of subjective user experiences. User studies are a standard evaluation methodology in psychology that help investigate the impact of system changes under natural conditions and access (latent) user states.

Conducting such studies can be challenging, though. In particular, it can be difficult to gather a sufficiently large sample of participants that allows for drawing significant and meaningful conclusions with a high ecological validity. Ecological validity, in psychology, measures whether we can generalize from behavior observed in an experiment to behavior in real-world settings (Schmuckler, 2001). One issue in recommender systems research is that ecological validity can be low (Sinha, Swearingen, *et al.*, 2001), particularly in field studies, where filling out questionnaires can be time-consuming and a burden for the respondents. The challenge is to design the study so that enough reliable data can be collected and respondents participate, which often requires tending towards simplicity in the user-centric evaluation (Fazeli *et al.*, 2017).

To facilitate the design and conduction of user studies, the research community has introduced several evaluation frameworks, as well as beyond-accuracy metrics that quantify more user-centric aspects of recommender systems, such as novelty, serendipity, or diversity. Optimizing a recommendation system for such metrics can help increase user satisfaction, as in the case of diversification of recommendations.

Furthermore, investigating user experience requires access to a deployed system and users interacting with the system over some time (Konstan and Riedl, 2012). That is particularly challenging as academic research often has limited access to such systems. As a remedy, the research community has put notable efforts to help academics build real-world systems via initiatives such as GroupLens (Resnick *et al.*, 1994), or LensKit (Ekstrand *et al.*, 2011).

Conclusion and Suggestions for Future Research

A substantial amount of research on psychology-informed recommender systems has been conducted in the past years. In this paper, we reviewed such recommender systems along three categories: i.e., *cognition-inspired*, *personality-aware*, and *affect-aware* recommender systems.

As shown by the reviewed works on **cognition-inspired recommender systems**, cognitive models help design and improve recommender systems in various domains. One advantage is that these algorithms are interpretable and transparent. Also, they can give further insights into user behavior grounded in human cognition.

While many works in cognition-inspired recommender systems utilize human memory processes to model and predict user behavior, there is untapped potential in the study of the connection between utilizing human memory processes to design and improve recommender systems and using recommender systems to support human memory in retrieving objects. While both strands of research agree on the relevance of context cues for determining the importance of objects in human memory, to date, research that addresses both aspects simultaneously is scarce.

Furthermore, we reviewed works that incorporate a user's attention into the recommendation model. While the success of deep learning has
spawned a range of attention-based approaches, we are not aware of any works that discuss underlying psychological models and theories of attention. Here, we see potential for future work to investigate attentionbased approaches in light of underlying psychological constructs.

As illustrated by the reviewed works on **personality-aware recommender systems**, personality has a significant impact on user preferences and behavior. The use of personality traits in personalized recommender systems helps alleviate cold-start problems and can improve the level of personalization and diversification of recommendation results both in single-user and group recommendation scenarios.

However, it is not well understood to which extent personality influences perceived recommendation quality; neither is the variability of this extent between users. For some users and domains, tailoring recommendations to personality traits might be valuable to recommend items that fit their personality; for others, personality could be an irrelevant signal, which could be perceived as invasive concerning privacy and ethics. Incorporating personality in a privacy-aware fashion is an open issue. Also, current approaches integrate personality using quite simplistic ways, e.g., by linearly combining a content-based similarity with a personality/user-based similarity metric. Only in a very recent article, Beheshti et al. (2020) incorporate personality information as features in a neural embedding framework in the larger context of a so-called cognitive recommender system. Furthermore, how to model the "personality" of an item is still an under-researched question. More sophisticated methods to derive personality traits on the item level are required. One related example is the approach by Sertkan *et al.* (2019).

In the context of **affect-aware recommender systems**, our survey shows that incorporating users' affective states can help improve personalization. Both emotion and mood are beneficial in context-aware recommendation scenarios, such as location-based recommendations, and in scenarios in which recommended items have a strong affective impact on users, such as music recommender systems. As in the case of personality, to which extent a user's mood or emotion influences the perceived recommendation quality is, to date, not well understood. Nor is the importance of mood or emotion changes during item consumption. We see further potential to research detecting such changes and

integrating affect dynamics into recommender systems. Finally, mood and emotion constitute sensitive information. Therefore, more research is needed to make emotion detection and inclusion of emotion as a contextual factor in recommender systems privacy-aware.

On a more general note, existing methods in personality- and affectaware recommender systems are relatively simple extensions of standard collaborative filtering or content-based filtering algorithms. We see further potential to study how information about personality, mood, and emotion can be integrated into current state-of-the-art deep learning methods (e.g., (Zhang *et al.*, 2019a; Schedl, 2019)).

Finally, most works discussed in this paper employ standard performance metrics from information retrieval and machine learning for evaluation. Future work can explore what metrics psychology-informed recommender systems can improve beyond accuracy, such as algorithmic fairness or transparency. Here, frameworks like the one presented by Deldjoo *et al.* (2021a) could be applied to evaluate user and item fairness and to devise suitable metrics. More research is also needed on the online performance of psychology-informed recommender systems to better understand whether their recommendations result in higher user satisfaction.

In this paper, we have also discussed the relationship between human decision making and recommender systems. A range of decision biases are described in the literature, which influence how users interact with a recommender system. Recommender systems can exploit and strengthen such biases to provide more useful recommendations, or to nudge and persuade users. Such effects require a level of control, in particular when they lead to sub-optimal outcomes. While most related work has focused on detecting decision biases in recommendation scenarios, we need more research on proactively preventing or minimizing such biases.

Also, the ethical concerns and discussions around the concept of nudging and persuasion gave room for *boosting* as a competing framework. Since the aim of boosting is to help users improve their competencies in decision making and overcome human cognitive limitations, we believe that boosting is a promising research area for the recommender systems community. For example, boosting can be applied to improve user knowledge about decision biases and underlying mechanisms of the recommender systems, including the implications of users' behavior on the prediction quality.

In this paper, we also discuss the **user-centric evaluation of recommender systems** and factors that influence how users experience and engage with recommender systems. One of them is cognitive dissonance, which, on the one hand, recommender systems designers should avoid as it can make users lose trust in the system. On the other hand, it can help de-bias information selection. We see potential for future work to take a cognitive-computational perspective on biased information behavior to design recommender systems that help explore non-confirmatory information. Here, the earlier mentioned boosting could help foster such exploration via dissonant recommendations that spark counterfactual reasoning.

Finally, in this paper, we discussed the design of **user studies for recommender systems evaluation**. Here, psychology has strongly influenced recommender systems research since methodologically, usercentric evaluation employs questionnaires and other instruments to uncover intrinsic properties and characteristics of subjective user experiences.

Conducting such studies with ecological validity in mind can be challenging, in particular, to gather a sufficiently large sample of participants that allows for drawing significant and meaningful conclusions. Here, the community could benefit from increased interdisciplinary cooperation between computer science and psychology to benefit from the rich knowledge in the psychological community on designing user studies that do not overburden users and still result in sufficiently large amounts of data.

To facilitate the design and execution of user studies, the research community has introduced several evaluation frameworks. Nevertheless, such user-centric evaluations require access to real-world systems and the ability to observe long-term user behavior. To mitigate this issue, the research community has put notable efforts to help academics build real-world systems via initiatives such as GroupLens (Resnick *et al.*, 1994). All in all, even though the past few years have witnessed an increasing awareness of psychological considerations in recommender systems research, we are still far away from considering the recommendation task as a multi-perspective endeavor. While historically, recommender systems research has been tied to business (informatics) and computer science, we argue that it should be similarly intertwined with sociological and psychological research.

Our vision for future recommender systems research is, therefore, to draw from the decent knowledge of these disciplines in the entire workflow of creating and evaluating recommender systems. Corresponding systems should, as a result, holistically consider extrinsic and intrinsic human factors; corresponding research should adopt a genuinely user-centric perspective.

References

- Adaji, I., C. Sharmaine, S. Debrowney, K. Oyibo, and J. Vassileva. 2018. "Personality Based Recipe Recommendation Using Recipe Network Graphs". In: Social Computing and Social Media. Technologies and Analytics. Ed. by G. Meiselwitz. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 161–170. ISBN: 978-3-319-91485-5.
- Adomavicius, G. and A. Tuzhilin. 2005. "Toward the next generation of recommender systems: a survey of the state-of-the-art and possible extensions". *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering*. 17(6): 734–749. ISSN: 1041-4347. DOI: 10.1109/TKDE.2005.99.
- Adomavicius, G., J. Bockstedt, S. P. Curley, and J. Zhang. 2011. "Recommender systems, consumer preferences, and anchoring effects". In: *CEUR Workshop Proceedings*. Vol. 811. Chicago, IL, USA: CEUR-WS. 35–42.
- Adomavicius, G., J. C. Bockstedt, S. P. Curley, and J. Zhang. 2013. "Do Recommender Systems Manipulate Consumer Preferences? A Study of Anchoring Effects". *Information Systems Research*. 24(4): 956–975.

- Adomavicius, G., J. C. Bockstedt, C. Shawn, and J. Zhang. 2014. "Debiasing user preference ratings in recommender systems". In: Joint Workshop on Interfaces and Human Decision Making for Recommender Systems, IntRS 2014, Co-located with ACM Conference on Recommender Systems, RecSys 2014. Foster City, CA, USA: CEUR-WS. 2–9.
- Aggarwal, C. C. 2016. "Model-based collaborative filtering". In: Recommender systems. Springer. 71–138.
- Aguzzoli, S., P. Avesani, and P. Massa. 2002. "Collaborative case-based recommender systems". In: European Conference on Case-Based Reasoning. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. 460–474.
- Allen, M. J. and W. M. Yen. 2001. Introduction to measurement theory. Waveland Press.
- ALRossais, N. A. and D. Kudenko. 2018. "Evaluating Stereotype and Non-Stereotype Recommender Systems". In: Knowledge-aware and Conversational Recommender Systems (KaRS) Workshop, co-located with RecSys 2018. Vancouver, Canada: CEUR-WS. 23–28.
- ALRossais, N. A. 2018. "Integrating Item Based Stereotypes in Recommender Systems". In: Proceedings of the 26th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. UMAP '18. Singapore, Singapore: ACM. 265–268. ISBN: 978-1-4503-5589-6. DOI: 10.1145/3209219.3213593. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3209219.3213593.
- Anderson, J. R. 2005. Cognitive psychology and its implications (6th edition). New York: Worth Publishers.
- Anderson, J. R., M. Matessa, and C. Lebiere. 1997. "ACT-R: A theory of higher level cognition and its relation to visual attention". *Human-Computer Interaction*. 12(4): 439–462.
- Anderson, J. R. 1974. "Retrieval of propositional information from long-term memory". Cognitive psychology. 6(4): 451–474.
- Asabere, N. Y., A. Acakpovi, and M. B. Michael. 2018. "Improving Socially-Aware Recommendation Accuracy Through Personality". *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*. 9(3): 351–361. ISSN: 1949-3045. DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2017.2695605.

- Atas, M., R. Samer, A. Felfernig, T. N. T. Tran, S. P. Erdeniz, and M. Stettinger. 2019. "Socially-Aware Diagnosis for Constraint-Based Recommendation". In: Proceedings of the 27th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. 121–129.
- Ayata, D., Y. Yaslan, and M. E. Kamasak. 2018. "Emotion Based Music Recommendation System Using Wearable Physiological Sensors". *IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics*. 64(2): 196–203. ISSN: 0098-3063. DOI: 10.1109/TCE.2018.2844736.
- Bateman, S., J. Teevan, and R. W. White. 2012. "The search dashboard: how reflection and comparison impact search behavior". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1785–1794.
- Beel, J. 2015. "Towards effective research-paper recommender systems and user modeling based on mind maps". *PhD thesis.* Otto-von-Guericke Universitaet Magdeburg.
- Beel, J., S. Dinesh, P. Mayr, Z. Carevic, and J. Raghvendra. 2017. Stereotype and most-popular recommendations in the digital library sowiport. Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin.
- Beel, J. and S. Langer. 2015. "A comparison of offline evaluations, online evaluations, and user studies in the context of research-paper recommender systems". In: *International conference on theory and practice of digital libraries*. Poznan, Poland: Springer. 153–168.
- Beel, J., S. Langer, B. Gipp, and A. Nürnberger. 2014. "The architecture and datasets of Docear's Research paper recommender system". *D-Lib Magazine*. 20(11/12): 1–11.
- Beel, J., S. Langer, G. Kapitsaki, C. Breitinger, and B. Gipp. 2015.
 "Exploring the potential of user modeling based on mind maps".
 In: International Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization. Dublin, Ireland: Springer. 3–17.
- Beheshti, A., S. Yakhchi, S. Mousaeirad, S. M. Ghafari, S. R. Goluguri, and M. A. Edrisi. 2020. "Towards Cognitive Recommender Systems". *Algorithms.* 13(8): 1–27.

- Bellandi, V., P. Ceravolo, F. Frati, J. Maggesi, G. Waldhart, and I. Seeber. 2012. "Design principles for competence-based recommender systems". In: 2012 6th IEEE International Conference on Digital Ecosystems and Technologies (DEST). Campione d'Italia, Italy: IEEE. 1–6.
- Berdichevsky, D. and E. Neuenschwander. 1999. "Toward an ethics of persuasive technology". *Communications of the ACM*. 42(5): 51–58.
- Berkovsky, S., R. Taib, I. Koprinska, E. Wang, Y. Zeng, J. Li, and S. Kleitman. 2019. "Detecting personality traits using eye-tracking data". In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. Glasgow Scotland Uk: ACM. 1–12.
- Berlyne, D. E. 1966. "Curiosity and exploration". *Science*. 153(3731): 25–33.
- Bettman, J., M. Luce, and J. Pyne. 1998. "Constructive Consumer Choice Processes". Journal of Consumer Research. 25(3): 187–217.
- Blanco-Fernández, Y., M. López-Nores, J. J. Pazos-Arias, and J. García-Duque. 2011. "An improvement for semantics-based recommender systems grounded on attaching temporal information to ontologies and user profiles". *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*. 24(8): 1385–1397.
- Bollen, D., M. Graus, and M. C. Willemsen. 2012. "Remembering the stars? Effect of time on preference retrieval from memory". In: *Proceedings of the sixth ACM conference on Recommender systems*. Dublin, Ireland: ACM. 217–220.
- Bollen, D., B. P. Knijnenburg, M. C. Willemsen, and M. Graus. 2010. "Understanding choice overload in recommender systems". In: Proceedings of the fourth ACM conference on Recommender systems. 63–70.
- Bologna, C., A. C. De Rosa, A. De Vivo, M. Gaeta, G. Sansonetti, and V. Viserta. 2013. "Personality-Based Recommendation in E-Commerce".
 In: 1st workshop on Emotions and Personality in Personalized Services, co-located with 21st Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. Rome, Italy: CEUR-WS. 1–6.
- Bousbahi, F. and H. Chorfi. 2015. "MOOC-Rec: a case based recommender system for MOOCs". Proceedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences. 195: 1813–1822.

- Buckner, C. and J. Garson. 2019. "Connectionism". In: The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Ed. by E. N. Zalta. Fall 2019. Stanford, US: Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University.
- Buder, J. and C. Schwind. 2012. "Learning with personalized recommender systems: A psychological view". Computers in Human Behavior. 28(1): 207–216.
- Burke, R. 1999. "The Wasabi Personal Shopper: a case-based recommender system". In: Proceedings of the sixteenth national conference on Artificial intelligence and the eleventh Innovative applications of artificial intelligence conference innovative applications of artificial intelligence. USA: American Association for Artificial Intelligence. 844–849.
- Burke, R. 2000a. "A case-based reasoning approach to collaborative filtering". In: European Workshop on Advances in Case-Based Reasoning. Trento, Italy: Springer. 370–379.
- Burke, R. 2000b. "Knowledge-based recommender systems". Encyclopedia of library and information systems. 69(Supplement 32): 175– 186.
- Burke, R. 2002. "Hybrid recommender systems: Survey and experiments". User modeling and user-adapted interaction. 12(4): 331– 370.
- Burke, R. D., K. J. Hammond, and B. C. Young. 1996. "Knowledgebased navigation of complex information spaces". In: *Proceedings* of the national conference on artificial intelligence. Vol. 462. US: AAAI. 468.
- Cantador, I., I. Fernandez-Tobias, A. Bellogín, M. Kosinski, and D. Stillwell. 2013. "Relating Personality Types with User Preferences Multiple Entertainment Domains". In: Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Emotions and Personality in Personalized Services (EMPIRE). Rome, Italy: CEUR-WS. 1–16.
- Caraban, A., E. Karapanos, D. Gonçalves, and P. Campos. 2019. "23 ways to nudge: A review of technology-mediated nudging in humancomputer interaction". In: Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1–15.

- Castells, P., N. J. Hurley, and S. Vargas. 2015. "Novelty and diversity in recommender systems". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Boston, MA: Springer. 881–918.
- Caverlee, J., L. Liu, and S. Webb. 2010. "The SocialTrust framework for trusted social information management: Architecture and algorithms". *Information Sciences*. 180(1): 95–112.
- Chapman, G. B. and E. J. Johnson. 2002. "Incorporating the irrelevant: Anchors in judgments of belief and value". In: *Heuristics and biases: The psychology of intuitive judgment*. New York: Cambridge University Press. 120–138.
- Charness, G. and M. Rabin. 2002. "Understanding Social Preferences with Simple Test". *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 117(3): 817–869. ISSN: 0033-5533.
- Chavarriaga, O., B. Florian-Gaviria, and O. Solarte. 2014. "A recommender system for students based on social knowledge and assessment data of competences". In: *European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning.* Graz, Austria: Springer. 56–69.
- Chen, J., H. Dong, X. Wang, F. Feng, M. Wang, and X. He. 2020. "Bias and Debias in Recommender System: A Survey and Future Directions". Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering: 1– 20.
- Chen, L., M. De Gemmis, A. Felfernig, P. Lops, F. Ricci, and G. Semeraro. 2013a. "Human decision making and recommender systems". ACM Transactions on Interactive Intelligent Systems (TiiS). 3(3): 17.
- Chen, L. and P. Pu. 2005. "Trust building in recommender agents". In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Web Personalization, Recommender Systems and Intelligent User Interfaces at the 2nd International Conference on E-Business and Telecommunication Networks. Citeseer. 135–145.
- Chen, L. and P. Pu. 2010a. "Experiments on the preference-based organization interface in recommender systems". ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI). 17(1): 1–33.
- Chen, L. and P. Pu. 2010b. "Eye-tracking study of user behavior in recommender interfaces". In: International Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization. Springer. 375–380.

- Chen, L., W. Wu, and L. He. 2013b. "How Personality Influences Users' Needs for Recommendation Diversity?" In: CHI '13 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI EA '13. Paris, France: ACM. 829–834. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1952-2. DOI: 10. 1145/2468356.2468505. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2468356. 2468505.
- Chmiel, A. and E. Schubert. 2018. "Using psychological principles of memory storage and preference to improve music recommendation systems". *Leonardo Music Journal*. 28: 77–81.
- Chong, H.-q., A.-h. Tan, and G.-w. Ng. 2007. "Integrated cognitive architectures: a survey". *Artificial Intelligence Reviews*. 28: 103–130.
- Commons, W. 2020. "File:Serial position.png Wikimedia Commons, the free media repository". [Online; accessed 7-December-2020]. URL: https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: Serial position.png&oldid=509450814.
- Contreras, D. and M. Salamó. 2020. "A Cognitively Inspired Clustering Approach for Critique-Based Recommenders". *Cognitive Computation.* 12(2): 428–441.
- Corbett, A. T. and J. R. Anderson. 1994. "Knowledge tracing: Modeling the acquisition of procedural knowledge". User modeling and useradapted interaction. 4(4): 253–278.
- Cosley, D., S. K. Lam, I. Albert, J. A. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2003. "Is seeing believing? How recommender system interfaces affect users' opinions". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems. 585–592.
- Costa, P. and R. McCrae. 1995. "Primary Traits of Eysenck's P-E-N System: Three- and Five-Factor Solutions". English (US). Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. 69(2): 308–317. ISSN: 0022-3514. DOI: 10.1037/0022-3514.69.2.308.
- Craswell, N., O. Zoeter, M. Taylor, and B. Ramsey. 2008. "An experimental comparison of click position-bias models". In: Proceedings of the 2008 international conference on web search and data mining. 87–94.

- Cremonesi, P., F. Garzotto, S. Negro, A. V. Papadopoulos, and R. Turrin. 2011a. "Looking for "good" recommendations: A comparative evaluation of recommender systems". In: *IFIP Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. Springer. 152–168.
- Cremonesi, P., F. Garzotto, and R. Turrin. 2012. "Investigating the persuasion potential of recommender systems from a quality perspective: An empirical study". ACM Transactions on Interactive Intelligent Systems (TiiS). 2(2): 1–41.
- Cremonesi, P., Y. Koren, and R. Turrin. 2010. "Performance of recommender algorithms on top-n recommendation tasks". In: *Proceedings* of the fourth ACM conference on Recommender systems. Barcelona, Spain: ACM. 39–46.
- Cremonesi, P., R. Turrin, and F. Airoldi. 2011b. "Hybrid algorithms for recommending new items". In: Proceedings of the 2nd international workshop on information heterogeneity and fusion in recommender systems. 33–40.
- Crowder, R. G. 2014. *Principles of learning and memory: Classic edition*. Psychology Press.
- Deese, J. and R. A. Kaufman. 1957. "Serial effects in recall of unorganized and sequentially organized verbal material." *Journal of experimental psychology.* 54(3): 180.
- Deldjoo, Y., V. W. Anelli, H. Zamani, A. Bellogin, and T. Di Noia. 2021a. "A flexible framework for evaluating user and item fairness in recommender systems". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction: 1–55.
- Deldjoo, Y., T. D. Noia, and F. A. Merra. 2021b. "A survey on adversarial recommender systems: from attack/defense strategies to generative adversarial networks". ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR). 54(2): 1–38.
- Delic, A., J. Neidhardt, L. Rook, H. Werthner, and M. Zanker. 2017. "Researching Individual Satisfaction with Group Decisions in Tourism: Experimental Evidence". In: *Information and Communication Technologies in Tourism 2017.* Ed. by R. Schegg and B. Stangl. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 73–85. ISBN: 978-3-319-51168-9.

- Deng, S., D. Wang, X. Li, and G. Xu. 2015. "Exploring User Emotion in Microblogs for Music Recommendation". *Expert Systems with Applications*. 42(23): 9284–9293. ISSN: 0957-4174. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eswa.2015.08.029. URL: http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0957417415005746.
- Doherty, A. R., K. Pauly-Takacs, N. Caprani, C. Gurrin, C. J. Moulin, N. E. O'Connor, and A. F. Smeaton. 2012. "Experiences of aiding autobiographical memory using the SenseCam". *Human–Computer Interaction.* 27(1-2): 151–174.
- Doyle, D., A. Tsymbal, and P. Cunningham. 2003. "A review of explanation and explanation in case-based reasoning". *Tech. rep.* Trinity College Dublin, Department of Computer Science.
- Dubey, R. and T. L. Griffiths. 2020. "Reconciling novelty and complexity through a rational analysis of curiosity." *Psychological Review*. 127(3): 455.
- Dyer, J. S. 2005. "Maut Multi Attribute Utility Theory". In: Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: State of the Art Surveys. New York, NY: Springer New York. 265–292. DOI: 10.1007/0-387-23081-5_7. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-23081-5_7.
- Ebbinghaus, H. 1885. Über das Gedächtnis: Untersuchungen zur Experimentellen Psychologie. Duncker & Humblot.
- Ebbinghaus, H. 2013. "Memory: A contribution to experimental psychology". Annals of neurosciences. 20(4): 155.
- Ekstrand, M. D., F. M. Harper, M. C. Willemsen, and J. A. Konstan. 2014. "User perception of differences in recommender algorithms". In: *Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Recommender systems*. 161–168.
- Ekstrand, M. D., M. Ludwig, J. Kolb, and J. T. Riedl. 2011. "LensKit: a modular recommender framework". In: Proceedings of the fifth ACM conference on Recommender systems. 349–350.
- Ekstrand, M. D., M. Tian, I. M. Azpiazu, J. D. Ekstrand, O. Anuyah, D. McNeill, and M. S. Pera. 2018. "All the cool kids, how do they fit in?: Popularity and demographic biases in recommender evaluation and effectiveness". In: *Conference on Fairness, Accountability and Transparency.* 172–186.

- Ekstrand, M. D. and M. C. Willemsen. 2016. "Behaviorism is not enough: better recommendations through listening to users". In: *Proceedings* of the 10th ACM Conference on Recommender Systems. 221–224.
- Elaine Rich. 1979. "User modeling via stereotypes". *Cognitive Science*. 3(4): 329–354. ISSN: 0364-0213. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0364-0213(79)80012-9. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0364021379800129.
- Elsweiler, D., I. Ruthven, and C. Jones. 2007. "Towards memory supporting personal information management tools". Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology. 58(7): 924–946.
- Elsweiler, D., C. Trattner, and M. Harvey. 2017. "Exploiting food choice biases for healthier recipe recommendation". In: Proceedings of the 40th international acm sigir conference on research and development in information retrieval. 575–584.
- Esposito, G., P. Hernández, R. van Bavel, and J. Vila. 2017. "Nudging to prevent the purchase of incompatible digital products online: An experimental study". *PloS one.* 12(3): e0173333.
- Falmagne, J.-C., D. Albert, C. Doble, D. Eppstein, and X. Hu. 2013. Knowledge spaces: Applications in education. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Farrell, S. and S. Lewandowsky. 2018. *Computational modeling of cognition and behavior*. Cambridge University Press.
- Fazeli, S., H. Drachsler, M. Bitter-Rijpkema, F. Brouns, W. Van der Vegt, and P. B. Sloep. 2017. "User-centric evaluation of recommender systems in social learning platforms: accuracy is just the tip of the iceberg". *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*. 11(3): 294– 306.
- Fehling, M. R. 1993. "Unified Theories of Cognition: modeling cognitive competence".
- Felfernig, A., M. Atas, D. Helic, T. N. T. Tran, M. Stettinger, and R. Samer. 2018a. "Group Recommender Systems: An Introduction". In: NY, USA: Springer. Chap. Algorithms for Group Recommendation. 27–58.

- Felfernig, A., G. Friedrich, B. Gula, M. Hitz, T. Kruggel, G. Leitner, R. Melcher, D. Riepan, S. Strauss, E. Teppan, and O. Vitouch. 2007. "Persuasive recommendation: Serial position effects in knowledgebased recommender systems". In: *Persuasive Technology*. Vol. 4744. *LNCS*. Springer. 283–294.
- Felfernig, A. 2014. "Biases in Decision Making." In: DMRS. 32-37.
- Felfernig, A., M. Atas, M. Stettinger, T. N. T. Tran, and G. Leitner. 2018b. "Group Recommender Systems: An Introduction". In: NY, USA: Springer. Chap. Biases in Group Decisions. 145–155.
- Felfernig, A., L. Boratto, M. Stettinger, and M. Tkalčič. 2018c. Group recommender systems: An introduction. Springer.
- Felfernig, A., L. Boratto, M. Stettinger, and M. Tkalčič. 2018d. "Personality, emotions, and group dynamics". In: *Group Recommender* Systems. Springer. 157–167.
- Felfernig, A. and R. Burke. 2008. "Constraint-based recommender systems: technologies and research issues". In: Proceedings of the 10th international conference on Electronic commerce. 1–10.
- Felfernig, A., B. Gula, G. Leitner, M. Maier, R. Melcher, S. Schippel, and E. Teppan. 2008a. "A dominance model for the calculation of decoy products in recommendation environments". In: AISB 2008 symposium on persuasive technology. Citeseer. 43–50.
- Felfernig, A., B. Gula, G. Leitner, M. Maier, R. Melcher, and E. Teppan. 2008b. "Persuasion in knowledge-based recommendation". In: *International Conference on Persuasive Technology*. Springer. 71–82.
- Fernandez-Tobias, I., M. Braunhofer, M. Elahi, F. Ricci, and I. Cantador. 2016. "Alleviating the New User Problem in Collaborative Filtering by Exploiting Personality Information". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 26(2-3): 221–255. ISSN: 0924-1868. DOI: 10.1007/ s11257-016-9172-z. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11257-016-9172-z.
- Ferwerda, B., M. P. Graus, A. Vall, M. Tkalcic, and M. Schedl. 2017a. "How Item Discovery Enabled by Diversity Leads to Increased Recommendation List Attractiveness". In: *Proceedings of the Symposium on Applied Computing. SAC '17.* Marrakech, Morocco: ACM. 1693–1696. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4486-9. DOI: 10.1145/3019612.3019899. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3019612.3019899.

References

- Ferwerda, B. and M. Tkalcic. 2018. "Predicting users' personality from instagram pictures: Using visual and/or content features?" In: Proceedings of the 26th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. 157–161.
- Ferwerda, B., M. Tkalcic, and M. Schedl. 2017b. "Personality Traits and Music Genres: What Do People Prefer to Listen To?" In: Proceedings of the 25th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. UMAP '17. Bratislava, Slovakia: ACM. 285–288. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4635-1. DOI: 10.1145/3079628.3079693. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3079628.3079693.
- Festinger, L. 1954. "A theory of social comparison processes". *Human relations.* 7(2): 117–140.
- Fogg, B. J. 2002. "Persuasive technology: using computers to change what we think and do". *Ubiquity*. 2002(December): 2.
- Fontaine, J. R., K. R. Scherer, E. B. Roesch, and P. C. Ellsworth. 2007.
 "The World of Emotions is not Two-Dimensional". *Psychological Science*. 18(12): 1050–1057. PMID: 18031411. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.02024.x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.02024.x.
- Fu, W.-T. 2008. "The microstructures of social tagging: a rational model". In: Proceedings of the 2008 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work. ACM. 229–238.
- Fu, W.-T. and W. Dong. 2012. "Collaborative Indexing and Knowledge Exploration: A Social Learning Model". *IEEE Intelligent Systems*. 27(1): 39–46.
- Fu, W.-T., T. Kannampallil, R. Kang, and J. He. 2010. "Semantic Imitation in Social Tagging". ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact. 17(3): 12:1–12:37. ISSN: 1073-0516. DOI: 10.1145/1806923.1806926. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1806923.1806926.
- Fu, W.-T. and T. G. Kannampallil. 2010. "Cognitive Models of User Behavior in Social Information Systems". In: CHI '10 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI EA '10. Atlanta, Georgia, USA: ACM. 4485–4488. ISBN: 978-1-60558-930-5. DOI: 10.1145/1753846.1754180. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/ 1753846.1754180.

- Fum, D., F. D. Missier, and A. Stocco. 2007. "The cognitive modeling of human behavior: Why a model is (sometimes) better than 10,000 words". Cognitive Systems Research. 8(3): 135–142. Cognitive Modeling. ISSN: 1389-0417. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsys.2007. 07.001. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1389041707000265.
- Galinsky, A. D. and G. B. Moskowitz. 2000. "Counterfactuals as behavioral primes: Priming the simulation heuristic and consideration of alternatives". Journal of Experimental Social Psychology. 36(4): 384–409.
- Gelli, F., X. He, T. Chen, and T.-S. Chua. 2017. "How Personality Affects Our Likes: Towards a Better Understanding of Actionable Images". In: Proceedings of the 25th ACM International Conference on Multimedia. MM '17. Mountain View, California, USA: Association for Computing Machinery. 1828–1837. ISBN: 9781450349062. DOI: 10.1145/3123266.3127909. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3123266.3127909.
- Gemmell, J., G. Bell, R. Lueder, S. Drucker, and C. Wong. 2002. "MyLifeBits: fulfilling the Memex vision". In: Proceedings of the tenth ACM international conference on Multimedia. 235–238.
- Gigerenzer, G. and W. Gaissmaier. 2011. "Heuristic decision making". Annual review of psychology. 62: 451–482.
- Glanzer, M. and A. R. Cunitz. 1966. "Two storage mechanisms in free recall". *Journal of verbal learning and verbal behavior*. 5(4): 351–360.
- Glushko, R. J., P. P. Maglio, T. Matlock, and L. W. Barsalou. 2008. "Categorization in the Wild". *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. 12(4): 129–135.
- Golbeck, J. and E. Norris. 2013. "Personality, Movie Preferences, and Recommendations". In: Proceedings of the 2013 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining. ASONAM '13. Niagara, Ontario, Canada: ACM. 1414– 1415. ISBN: 978-1-4503-2240-9. DOI: 10.1145/2492517.2492572. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2492517.2492572.

- Golbeck, J., C. Robles, M. Edmondson, and K. Turner. 2011a. "Predicting personality from twitter". In: 2011 IEEE third international conference on privacy, security, risk and trust and 2011 IEEE third international conference on social computing. IEEE. 149–156.
- Golbeck, J., C. Robles, and K. Turner. 2011b. "Predicting personality with social media". In: CHI'11 extended abstracts on human factors in computing systems. 253–262.
- Golbeck, J. A. 2016. "Predicting personality from social media text". AIS Transactions on Replication Research. 2(1): 2.
- Goldberg, L. R., J. A. Johnson, H. W. Eber, R. Hogan, M. C. Ashton, C. R. Cloninger, and H. G. Gough. 2006. "The International Personality Item Pool and the Future of Public-domain Personality Measures". Journal of Research in Personality. 40(1): 84–96. Proceedings of the 2005 Meeting of the Association of Research in Personality. ISSN: 0092-6566. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp. 2005.08.007. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092656605000553.
- Gong, S. 2009. "Joining case-based reasoning and item-based collaborative filtering in recommender systems". In: 2009 Second International Symposium on Electronic Commerce and Security. Vol. 1. IEEE. 40–42.
- González, G., B. López, and J. L. De La Rosa. 2002. "The emotional factor: An innovative approach to user modelling for recommender systems". In: Workshop on Recommendation and Personalization in e-Commerce. 90–99.
- González, G., B. López, and J. L. De La Rosa. 2004. "Managing Emotions in Smart User Models for Recommender Systems." In: *ICEIS* (5). 187–194.
- Goretzko, D., T. T. H. Pham, and M. Bühner. 2019. "Exploratory factor analysis: Current use, methodological developments and recommendations for good practice". *Current Psychology*: 1–12.
- Gosling, S. D., P. J. Rentfrow, and W. B. S. Jr. 2003. "A very brief measure of the Big-Five personality domains". *Journal of Research* in Personality. 37(6): 504–528.
- Graus, M. and B. Ferwerda. 2019. "Theory-grounded user modeling for personalized HCI". *Personalized human-computer interaction*.

- Gretzel, U. and D. Fesenmaier. 2006. "Persuasion in Recommender Systems". Int. J. Electron. Commerce. 11(2): 81–100. ISSN: 1086-4415. DOI: 10.2753/JEC1086-4415110204. URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.2753/JEC1086-4415110204.
- Grüne-Yanoff, T. and R. Hertwig. 2016. "Nudge versus boost: How coherent are policy and theory?" Minds and Machines. 26(1): 149– 183.
- Grüne-Yanoff, T., C. Marchionni, and M. A. Feufel. 2018. "Toward a framework for selecting behavioural policies: How to choose between boosts and nudges". *Economics and Philosophy.* 34(2): 243–266. DOI: 10.1017/S0266267118000032.
- Güell, M., M. Salamó, D. Contreras, and L. Boratto. 2020. "Integrating a cognitive assistant within a critique-based recommender system". *Cognitive Systems Research*. ISSN: 1389-0417. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cogsys.2020.07.003. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1389041720300449.
- Gunawardana, A. and G. Shani. 2009. "A survey of accuracy evaluation metrics of recommendation tasks." *Journal of Machine Learning Research.* 10(12).
- Hamilton, D. L. 1979. "A Cognitive-Attributional Analysis of Stereotyping". In: Advances in experimental social psychology. Vol. 12. Elsevier. 53–84.
- Hamilton, D. L. 2015. Cognitive processes in stereotyping and intergroup behavior. Psychology Press.
- Hammond, K. J. 2012. Case-based planning: Viewing planning as a memory task. Elsevier.
- Harvey, M., M. Langheinrich, and G. Ward. 2016. "Remembering through lifelogging: A survey of human memory augmentation". *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*. 27: 14–26.
- Herlocker, J. L., J. A. Konstan, A. Borchers, and J. Riedl. 2017. "An algorithmic framework for performing collaborative filtering". In: *ACM SIGIR Forum.* Vol. 51. No. 2. ACM New York, NY, USA. 227–234.
- Herlocker, J. L., J. A. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2000. "Explaining collaborative filtering recommendations". In: Proceedings of the 2000 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work. 241–250.

- Herlocker, J. L., J. A. Konstan, L. G. Terveen, and J. T. Riedl. 2004. "Evaluating collaborative filtering recommender systems". ACM Transactions on Information Systems (TOIS). 22(1): 5–53.
- Hertwig, R. and T. Grüne-Yanoff. 2017. "Nudging and boosting: Steering or empowering good decisions". *Perspectives on Psychological Science*. 12(6): 973–986.
- Hoch, S. J. 1985. "Counterfactual reasoning and accuracy in predicting personal events." Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition. 11(4): 719.
- Hofmann, K., A. Schuth, A. Bellogin, and M. De Rijke. 2014. "Effects of position bias on click-based recommender evaluation". In: *European Conference on Information Retrieval*. Springer. 624–630.
- Holland, J. L. 1997. Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities and work environments. Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Hu, R. and P. Pu. 2011. "Enhancing recommendation diversity with organization interfaces". In: Proceedings of the 16th international conference on Intelligent user interfaces. 347–350.
- Huang, J., H. Oosterhuis, M. de Rijke, and H. van Hoof. 2020. "Keeping Dataset Biases out of the Simulation: A Debiased Simulator for Reinforcement Learning Based Recommender Systems". In: Fourteenth ACM Conference on Recommender Systems. RecSys '20. Virtual Event, Brazil: Association for Computing Machinery. 190–199. ISBN: 9781450375832. DOI: 10.1145/3383313.3412252. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1145/3383313.3412252.
- Huber, J., J. W. Payne, and C. Puto. 1982. "Adding asymmetrically dominated alternatives: Violations of regularity and the similarity hypothesis". *Journal of consumer research*. 9(1): 90–98.
- Ingwersen, P. 1984. "Psychological aspects of information retrieval". Social Science Information Studies. 4(2-3): 83–95.
- Jameson, A., M. C. Willemsen, A. Felfernig, M. de Gemmis, P. Lops, G. Semeraro, and L. Chen. 2015. "Human decision making and recommender systems". In: *Recommender Systems Handbook*. Springer. 611–648.
- Jannach, D., A. Manzoor, W. Cai, and L. Chen. 2020. "A Survey on Conversational Recommender Systems". arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.00646.

- Jannach, D., O. S. Shalom, and J. A. Konstan. 2019. "Towards More Impactful Recommender Systems Research." In: *ImpactRS@RecSys*.
- Jannach, D., M. Zanker, A. Felfernig, and G. Friedrich. 2010. Recommender systems: an introduction. Cambridge University Press.
- Jannach, D., M. Zanker, M. Ge, and M. Gröning. 2012. "Recommender systems in computer science and information systems-a landscape of research". In: *International Conference on Electronic Commerce* and Web Technologies. Springer. 76–87.
- Jesse, M. and D. Jannach. 2021. "Digital nudging with recommender systems: Survey and future directions". Computers in Human Behavior Reports. 3: 100052.
- Jin, Y., N. N. Htun, N. Tintarev, and K. Verbert. 2019. "ContextPlay: Evaluating User Control for Context-Aware Music Recommendation". In: Proceedings of the 27th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization, UMAP 2019, Larnaca, Cyprus, June 9-12, 2019. Ed. by G. A. Papadopoulos, G. Samaras, S. Weibelzahl, D. Jannach, and O. C. Santos. ACM. 294–302. DOI: 10.1145/3320435.3320445. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3320435. 3320445.
- Joachims, T., L. Granka, B. Pan, H. Hembrooke, and G. Gay. 2017. "Accurately interpreting clickthrough data as implicit feedback". In: ACM SIGIR Forum. Vol. 51. No. 1. Acm New York, NY, USA. 4–11.
- John, O. and S. Srivastava. 1999. "The Big Five Trait Taxonomy: History, Measurement, and Theoretical Perspectives". In: *Handbook* of Personality: Theory and Research. Ed. by L. A. Pervin and O. P. John. 2nd. New York, NY, USA: Guilford Press. 102–138.
- Jones, M. N. 2016. Big data in cognitive science. Psychology Press.
- Jorro-Aragoneses, J., M. Caro-Martinez, J. A. Recio-Garcia, B. Diaz-Agudo, and G. Jimenez-Diaz. 2019. "Personalized Case-Based Explanation of Matrix Factorization Recommendations". In: International Conference on Case-Based Reasoning. Springer. 140–154.
- Jugovac, M. and D. Jannach. 2017. "Interacting with recommenders—overview and research directions". ACM Transactions on Interactive Intelligent Systems (TiiS). 7(3): 10.

- Jugovac, M., I. Nunes, and D. Jannach. 2018. "Investigating the decisionmaking behavior of maximizers and satisficers in the presence of recommendations". In: Proceedings of the 26th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. ACM. 279–283.
- Juslin, P. and P. Laukka. 2004. "Expression, perception, and induction of musical emotions: A review and a questionnaire study of everyday listening". Journal of New Music Research. 33(2): 217–238.
- Kahana, M. J. 2020. "Computational Models of Memory Search". Annual Review of Psychology. 71: 107–138.
- Kahneman, D. 2003. "Maps of bounded rationality: Psychology for behavioral economics". American economic review. 93(5): 1449– 1475.
- Kahneman, D. 2011. *Thinking, fast and slow*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Kahneman, D. and A. Tversky. 1972. "Subjective probability: A judgment of representativeness". *Cognitive psychology*. 3(3): 430–454.
- Kaminskas, M. and D. Bridge. 2016. "Diversity, serendipity, novelty, and coverage: a survey and empirical analysis of beyond-accuracy objectives in recommender systems". ACM Transactions on Interactive Intelligent Systems (TiiS). 7(1): 1–42.
- Karimi, S., K. N. Papamichail, and C. P. Holland. 2015. "The effect of prior knowledge and decision-making style on the online purchase decision-making process: A typology of consumer shopping behaviour". *Decision Support Systems*. 77: 137–147.
- Karlsen, R. and A. Andersen. 2019. "Recommendations with a nudge". *Technologies*. 7(2): 45.
- Karumur, R. P., T. T. Nguyen, and J. A. Konstan. 2016. "Exploring the value of personality in predicting rating behaviors: a study of category preferences on movielens". In: *Proceedings of the 10th ACM* conference on recommender systems. 139–142.
- Karumur, R. P., T. T. Nguyen, and J. A. Konstan. 2018. "Personality, user preferences and behavior in recommender systems". *Information Systems Frontiers*. 20(6): 1241–1265.
- Knees, P., M. Schedl, B. Ferwerda, and A. Laplante. 2019. "User awareness in music recommender systems". *Personalized Human-Computer Interaction*: 223–252.

- Knijnenburg, B. P., N. J. Reijmer, and M. C. Willemsen. 2011. "Each to his own: how different users call for different interaction methods in recommender systems". In: *Proceedings of the fifth ACM conference* on Recommender systems. 141–148.
- Knijnenburg, B. P., S. Sivakumar, and D. Wilkinson. 2016. "Recommender systems for self-actualization". In: Proceedings of the 10th acm conference on recommender systems. 11–14.
- Knijnenburg, B. P. and M. C. Willemsen. 2015. "Evaluating recommender systems with user experiments". In: *Recommender Systems Handbook*. Springer. 309–352.
- Knijnenburg, B. P., M. C. Willemsen, Z. Gantner, H. Soncu, and C. Newell. 2012a. "Explaining the user experience of recommender systems". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 22(4-5): 441–504.
- Knijnenburg, B. P., M. C. Willemsen, Z. Gantner, H. Soncu, and C. Newell. 2012b. "Explaining the user experience of recommender systems". User Model. User Adapt. Interact. 22(4-5): 441–504. DOI: 10.1007/s11257-011-9118-4. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11257-011-9118-4.
- Köcher, S., M. Jugovac, D. Jannach, and H. H. Holzmüller. 2019. "New hidden persuaders: an investigation of attribute-level anchoring effects of product recommendations". *Journal of Retailing*. 95(1): 24–41.
- Kolodner, J. 2014. Case-based reasoning. Morgan Kaufmann.
- Kolodner, J. L. 1992. "An introduction to case-based reasoning". Artificial intelligence review. 6(1): 3–34.
- Konert, J., S. Göbel, and R. Steinmetz. 2013. "Modeling the player, learner and personality: Independency of the models of Bartle, Kolb and NEO-FFI (Big5) and the implications for game based learning". In: Proceedings of the 7th European Conference on Game Based Learning (ECGBL). 329–335.
- Konstan, J. A. and J. Riedl. 2012. "Recommender systems: from algorithms to user experience". User modeling and user-adapted interaction. 22(1-2): 101–123.

- Kopeinik, S., D. Kowald, I. Hasani-Mavriqi, and E. Lex. 2017a. "Improving Collaborative Filtering Using a Cognitive Model of Human Category Learning". *The Journal of Web Science*. 4(2): 45–61.
- Kopeinik, S., D. Kowald, and E. Lex. 2016. "Which algorithms suit which learning environments? a comparative study of recommender systems in tel". In: *European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning*. Springer. 124–138.
- Kopeinik, S., E. Lex, P. Seitlinger, D. Albert, and T. Ley. 2017b. "Supporting collaborative learning with tag recommendations: a real-world study in an inquiry-based classroom project". In: *Proceed*ings of the Seventh International Learning Analytics & Knowledge Conference. ACM. 409–418.
- Koren, Y. and R. Bell. 2015. "Advances in collaborative filtering". In: *Recommender systems handbook.* Springer. 77–118.
- Kowald, D., S. Kopeinik, and E. Lex. 2017a. "The TagRec Framework As a Toolkit for the Development of Tag-Based Recommender Systems". In: Adjunct Publication of the 25th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. UMAP '17. Bratislava, Slovakia: ACM. 23–28. ISBN: 978-1-4503-5067-9. DOI: 10.1145/3099023. 3099069. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3099023.3099069.
- Kowald, D. and E. Lex. 2015. "Evaluating Tag Recommender Algorithms in Real-World Folksonomies: A Comparative Study". In: Proceedings of the 9th ACM Conference on Recommender Systems. RecSys '15. Vienna, Austria: ACM. 265–268. ISBN: 978-1-4503-3692-5. DOI: 10. 1145/2792838.2799664. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2792838. 2799664.
- Kowald, D. and E. Lex. 2016. "The influence of frequency, recency and semantic context on the reuse of tags in social tagging systems". In: *Proceedings of the 27th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media.* ACM. 237–242.
- Kowald, D., E. Lex, and M. Schedl. 2019. "Modeling artist preferences for personalized music recommendations". In: Proceedings of the Late-Breaking-Results Track of the 20th Annual Conference of the International Society for Music Information Retrieval (ISMIR 2019). 1–2.

- Kowald, D., E. Lex, and M. Schedl. 2020a. "Utilizing Human Memory Processes to Model Genre Preferences for Personalized Music Recommendations". In: Fourth HUMANIZE workshop on Transparency and Explainability in Adaptive Systems through User Modeling Grounded in Psychological Theory.
- Kowald, D., S. C. Pujari, and E. Lex. 2017b. "Temporal effects on hashtag reuse in twitter: A cognitive-inspired hashtag recommendation approach". In: *Proceedings of the 26th International Conference* on World Wide Web. International World Wide Web Conferences Steering Committee. 1401–1410.
- Kowald, D., M. Schedl, and E. Lex. 2020b. "The Unfairness of Popularity Bias in Music Recommendation: A Reproducibility Study". In: *European Conference on Information Retrieval*. Springer. 35–42.
- Kowald, D., P. Seitlinger, S. Kopeinik, T. Ley, and C. Trattner. 2013. "Forgetting the words but remembering the meaning: Modeling forgetting in a verbal and semantic tag recommender". In: *Mining, Modeling, and Recommending'Things' in Social Media*. Springer. 75–95.
- Kowald, D., P. Seitlinger, C. Trattner, and T. Ley. 2014. "Long time no see: The probability of reusing tags as a function of frequency and recency". In: *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference* on World Wide Web. 463–468.
- Kruschke, J. K. 1992. "ALCOVE: an exemplar-based connectionist model of category learning." *Psychological review*. 99(1): 22.
- Kuan, H.-H., G.-W. Bock, and J. Lee. 2007. "A cognitive dissonance perspective of customers' online trust in multi-channel retailers". In: *European Conference on Information Systems*.
- Lamming, M. and M. Flynn. 1994. "Forget-me-not: Intimate computing in support of human memory". In: Proc. FRIEND21, 1994 Int. Symp. on Next Generation Human Interface. Vol. 4. Citeseer.
- Leake, D. 2001. "Problem Solving and Reasoning: Case-based". In: International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences. Ed. by N. J. Smelser and P. B. Baltes. Oxford: Pergamon. 12117–12120. ISBN: 978-0-08-043076-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/00545-3. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/B0080430767005453.

- Leake, D. 2015. "Problem solving and reasoning: Case-based". Int. Encycl. Soc. Behav. Sci: 56–60.
- Lex, E., D. Kowald, and M. Schedl. 2020. "Modeling Popularity and Temporal Drift of Music Genre Preferences". Transactions of the International Society for Music Information Retrieval. 3(1).
- Ling, K., G. Beenen, P. Ludford, X. Wang, K. Chang, X. Li, D. Cosley, D. Frankowski, L. Terveen, A. M. Rashid, et al. 2005. "Using social psychology to motivate contributions to online communities". *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*. 10(4): 00–00.
- Lipton, Z. C. 2018. "The mythos of model interpretability". *Queue*. 16(3): 31–57.
- Liu, X., A. Datta, and E.-P. Lim. 2014. Computational trust models and machine learning. CRC Press.
- Loewenstein, G. and J. S. Lerner. 2003. "The role of affect in decision making". *Handbook of affective science*. 619(642): 3.
- Lops, P., D. Jannach, C. Musto, T. Bogers, and M. Koolen. 2019. "Trends in content-based recommendation". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 29(2): 239–249.
- Lorenzi, F. and F. Ricci. 2003. "Case-based recommender systems: A unifying view". In: IJCAI Workshop on Intelligent Techniques for Web Personalization. Springer. 89–113.
- Love, B. C., D. L. Medin, T. M. Gureckis, B. C. Love, T. M. Gureckis, and D. O. Psychology. 2004. "SUSTAIN: A Network Model of Category Learning". *Psychological Review*: 309–332.
- Lu, F. and N. Tintarev. 2018. "A Diversity Adjusting Strategy with Personality for Music Recommendation". In: Proceedings of the 5th Joint Workshop on Interfaces and Human Decision Making for Recommender Systems, co-located with ACM Conference on Recommender Systems (RecSys 2018). 7–14.
- Maanen, L. V. and J. N. Marewski. 2009. "Recommender systems for literature selection: A competition between decision making and memory models". In: Proceedings of the 31st Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society. Cognitive Science Society. 2914–2919.
- Mandl, M., A. Felfernig, E. Teppan, and M. Schubert. 2011. "Consumer decision making in knowledge-based recommendation". Journal of Intelligent Information Systems. 37(1): 1–22.

- Masthoff, J. 2004a. "Group Modeling: Selecting a Sequence of Television Items to Suit a Group of Viewers". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 14(1): 37–85.
- Masthoff, J. 2004b. "Group modeling: Selecting a sequence of television items to suit a group of viewers". In: *Personalized digital television*. Springer. 93–141.
- Masthoff, J. 2005. "The pursuit of satisfaction: affective state in group recommender systems". In: International Conference on User Modeling. Springer. 297–306.
- Masthoff, J. 2011. "Group recommender systems: Combining individual models". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Springer. 677–702.
- Masthoff, J. 2015. "Group recommender systems: aggregation, satisfaction and group attributes". In: *Recommender Systems Handbook*. Springer. 743–776.
- Masthoff, J. and A. Gatt. 2006. "In pursuit of satisfaction and the prevention of embarrassment: affective state in group recommender systems". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 16(3-4): 281–319.
- Matlin, M. and D. Stang. 1978. "Pollyanna principle". *Psychology Today*. 11(10): 56.
- McCrae, R. R. and O. P. John. 1992. "An Introduction to the Five-Factor Model and Its Applications". *Journal of Personality*. 60(2): 175–215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00970.x.
- McCroskey, J. C. et al. 1984. "Self-report measurement". Avoiding communication: Shyness, reticence, and communication apprehension: 81–94.
- McGinty, L. and J. Reilly. 2011. "On the evolution of critiquing recommenders". In: *Recommender Systems Handbook*. Springer. 419– 453.
- McGuire, W. J. 1969. "The nature of attitudes and attitude change". In: ed. by E. A. bibinitperiod G. Lindzey. 2nd. Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley. 136– 314.
- McNee, S. M., S. K. Lam, J. A. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2003. "Interfaces for eliciting new user preferences in recommender systems". In: *International Conference on User Modeling*. Springer. 178–187.

- McNee, S. M., J. Riedl, and J. A. Konstan. 2006a. "Being accurate is not enough: how accuracy metrics have hurt recommender systems". In: *CHI'06 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*. 1097–1101.
- McNee, S. M., J. Riedl, and J. A. Konstan. 2006b. "Making recommendations better: an analytic model for human-recommender interaction".
 In: CHI'06 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems. 1103–1108.
- McSherry, D. 2005. "Explanation in recommender systems". Artificial Intelligence Review. 24(2): 179–197.
- Mehrabian, A. 1980. Basic dimensions for a general psychological theory: implications for personality, social, environmental, and developmental studies. Social Environmental and Developmental Studies. Oelgeschlager, Gunn & Hain. ISBN: 9780899460048.
- Meske, C. and T. Potthoff. 2017. "The DINU-model-a process model for the design of nudges". In: *Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS)*.
- Milano, S., M. Taddeo, and L. Floridi. 2020. "Recommender systems and their ethical challenges". AI & SOCIETY. 35(4): 957–967.
- Miller, T. 2019. "Explanation in artificial intelligence: Insights from the social sciences". Artificial Intelligence. 267: 1–38.
- Missier, F. D. 2014. "Memory and Decision Making: From Basic Cognitive Research to Design Issues". In: International Workshop on Decision Making and Recommender Systems (DMRS). 8–13.
- Mizgajski, J. and M. Morzy. 2019. "Affective recommender systems in online news industry: how emotions influence reading choices". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 29(2): 345–379. ISSN: 1573-1391. DOI: 10.1007/s11257-018-9213-x. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11257-018-9213-x.
- Mojzisch, A. and S. Schulz-Hardt. 2010. "Knowing other's preferences degrades the quality of group decisions". Jornaal of Personality and Social Psychology. 98(5): 794–808.

- Moraveji, N., D. Russell, J. Bien, and D. Mease. 2011. "Measuring improvement in user search performance resulting from optimal search tips". In: Proceedings of the 34th international ACM SIGIR conference on Research and development in Information Retrieval. 355–364.
- Mozer, M. C. and R. V. Lindsey. 2016. "PREDICTING AND IMPROV-ING MEMORY RETENTION". *Big data in cognitive science:* 34.
- Muhammad, K., A. Lawlor, R. Rafter, and B. Smyth. 2015. "Great explanations: Opinionated explanations for recommendations". In: *International Conference on Case-Based Reasoning*. Springer. 244– 258.
- Murphy, J., C. Hofacker, and R. Mizerski. 2012. "Primacy and Recency Effects on Clicking Behavior". Computer-Mediated Communication. 11: 522–535.
- Musto, C., G. Semeraro, P. Lops, M. De Gemmis, and G. Lekkas. 2015. "Personalized finance advisory through case-based recommender systems and diversification strategies". *Decision Support Systems*. 77: 100–111.
- Nalmpantis, O. and C. Tjortjis. 2017. "The 50/50 Recommender: A Method Incorporating Personality into Movie Recommender Systems". In: *Engineering Applications of Neural Networks*. Ed. by G. Boracchi, L. Iliadis, C. Jayne, and A. Likas. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 498–507. ISBN: 978-3-319-65172-9.
- Nanou, T., G. Lekakos, and K. Fouskas. 2010. "The effects of recommendations' presentation on persuasion and satisfaction in a movie recommender system". *Multimedia systems*. 16(4-5): 219–230.
- Neisser, U. 1967. Cognitive Psychology. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Nguyen, H., J. Masthoff, and P. Edwards. 2007. "Modelling a receiver's position to persuasive arguments". *Persuasive Technology*: 271–282.
- Nguyen, T. N., F. Ricci, A. Delic, and D. G. Bridge. 2019. "Conflict resolution in group decision making: insights from a simulation study". User Model. User Adapt. Interact. 29(5): 895–941.
- Nguyen, T. T., F. M. Harper, L. Terveen, and J. A. Konstan. 2018. "User personality and user satisfaction with recommender systems". *Information Systems Frontiers*. 20(6): 1173–1189.

- Nunes, M. A. S. N. 2008. "Recommender systems based on personality traits". *PhD thesis*. Universite Montpellier II - Sciences et Techniques du Languedoc.
- O'Brien, H. L. and E. G. Toms. 2008. "What is user engagement? A conceptual framework for defining user engagement with technology". Journal of the American society for Information Science and Technology. 59(6): 938–955.
- O'Brien, H. L. and E. G. Toms. 2010. "The development and evaluation of a survey to measure user engagement". Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology. 61(1): 50–69.
- O'Connor, M., D. Cosley, J. A. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2001. "PolyLens: A Recommender System for Groups of Users". In: Proceedings of the Seventh Conference on European Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work. ECSCW'01. Bonn, Germany: Kluwer Academic Publishers. 199–218. ISBN: 0-7923-7162-3.
- O'keefe, D. J. 2015. Persuasion: Theory and research. Sage Publications.
- Orellana-Rodriguez, C., E. Diaz-Aviles, and W. Nejdl. 2015. "Mining Affective Context in Short Films for Emotion-Aware Recommendation". In: Proceedings of the 26th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media. HT '15. Guzelyurt, Northern Cyprus: ACM. 185– 194. ISBN: 978-1-4503-3395-5. DOI: 10.1145/2700171.2791042. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2700171.2791042.
- Ormerod, T. 1990. Psychology of Programming. Human cognition and programming. Human cognition and programming. Academic Press. 63–82.
- Ortloff, A.-M., S. Zimmerman, D. Elsweiler, and N. Henze. 2021. "The Effect of Nudges and Boosts on Browsing Privacy in a Naturalistic Environment". In: Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Human Information Interaction and Retrieval. CHIIR '21. Canberra ACT, Australia: Association for Computing Machinery. 63– 73. ISBN: 9781450380553. DOI: 10.1145/3406522.3446014. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3406522.3446014.

- Paiva, R. O. A., I. I. Bittencourt, A. P. da Silva, S. Isotani, and P. Jaques. 2015. "Improving pedagogical recommendations by classifying students according to their interactional behavior in a gamified learning environment". In: *Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on Applied Computing*. 233–238.
- Pavlik, P. I. and J. R. Anderson. 2008. "Using a model to compute the optimal schedule of practice." Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied. 14(2): 101.
- Payne, J., J. Bettman, and E. Johnson. 1993. The Adaptive Decision Maker. Cambridge University Press.
- Perloff, R. M. 2020. The dynamics of persuasion: Communication and attitudes in the twenty-first century. Routledge.
- Piazza, A., P. Kröckel, and F. Bodendorf. 2017. "Emotions and Fashion Recommendations: Evaluating the Predictive Power of Affective Information for the Prediction of Fashion Product Preferences in Cold-start Scenarios". In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Web Intelligence. WI '17. Leipzig, Germany: ACM. 1234– 1240. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4951-2. DOI: 10.1145/3106426.3109441. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/3106426.3109441.
- Prins, F. J., R. J. Nadolski, A. J. Berlanga, H. Drachsler, H. G. Hummel, and R. Koper. 2008. "Competence Description for Personal Recommendations: The importance of identifying the complexity of learning and performance situations". Journal of Educational Technology & Society. 11(3): 141–152.
- Psychology, A. M. (O. 2012. "The Computational Metaphor and Cognitive Psychology". Irish Journal of Psychology. 2(10): 143–161.
- Pu, P. and L. Chen. 2006. "Trust building with explanation interfaces".
 In: Proceedings of the 11th international conference on Intelligent user interfaces. 93–100.
- Pu, P., L. Chen, and R. Hu. 2011. "A user-centric evaluation framework for recommender systems". In: *Proceedings of the fifth ACM* conference on Recommender systems. 157–164.
- Pu, P., L. Chen, and R. Hu. 2012. "Evaluating recommender systems from the user's perspective: survey of the state of the art". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 22(4-5): 317–355.

- Quijano-Sanchez, L., J. A. Recio-Garcia, and B. Diaz-Agudo. 2010. "Personality and Social Trust in Group Recommendations". In: *Proceedings of the 2010 22nd IEEE International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence*. Vol. 02. *ICTAI'10*. Washington, DC, USA: IEEE Computer Society. 121–126. ISBN: 978-0-7695-4263-8.
- Ranjith, N. 2012. "Serial Position Curve". In: *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning*. Ed. by N. M. Seel. Boston, MA: Springer US. 3050–3052. ISBN: 978-1-4419-1428-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6 1816. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6 1816.
- Ravi, L. and S. Vairavasundaram. 2017. "Learning recency and inferring associations in location based social network for emotion induced point-of-interest recommendation". *Journal of Information Science* and Engineering. 33(Jan.): 1629–1647. DOI: 10.6688/JISE.2017.33.6. 15.
- Recio-Garcia, J. A., G. Jimenez-Diaz, A. A. Sanchez-Ruiz, and B. Diaz-Agudo. 2009. "Personality Aware Recommendations to Groups".
 In: Proceedings of the Third ACM Conference on Recommender Systems. RecSys '09. New York, New York, USA: ACM. 325–328. ISBN: 978-1-60558-435-5.
- Ren, L. 2015. "A Time-Enhanced Collaborative Filtering Approach". In: 2015 4th International Conference on Next Generation Computer and Information Technology (NGCIT). IEEE. 7–10.
- Rentfrow, P., L. R. Goldberg, and R. Zilca. 2011. "Listening, Watching, and Reading: The Structure and Correlates of Entertainment Preferences". *Journal of Personality*. 79(Apr.): 223–258. DOI: 10.1111/j. 1467-6494.2010.00662.x.
- Resnick, P., N. Iacovou, M. Suchak, P. Bergstrom, and J. Riedl. 1994. "GroupLens: an open architecture for collaborative filtering of netnews". In: Proceedings of the 1994 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work. 175–186.
- Resnick, P. and H. R. Varian. 1997. "Recommender systems". Communications of the ACM. 40(3): 56–58.
- Ricci, F., B. Arslan, N. Mirzadeh, and A. Venturini. 2002. "ITR: a case-based travel advisory system". In: *European Conference on Case-Based Reasoning*. Springer. 613–627.

- Ricci, F., D. Cavada, N. Mirzadeh, A. Venturini, et al. 2006. "Case-based travel recommendations". Destination recommendation systems: behavioural foundations and applications: 67–93.
- Ricci, F., L. Rokach, and B. Shapira. 2011. "Introduction to recommender systems handbook". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Springer. 1–35.
- Ricci, F., L. Rokach, B. Shapira, and P. B. Kantor, eds. 2015. *Recom*mender Systems Handbook. 2nd. Springer.
- Ricci, F. and H. Werthner. 2001. "Case base querying for travel planning recommendation". Information Technology & Tourism. 4(3-4): 215– 226.
- Rich, E. 1989. "Stereotypes and user modeling". In: User models in dialog systems. Springer. 35–51.
- Riesbeck, C. K. and R. C. Schank. 2013. *Inside case-based reasoning*. Psychology Press.
- Roese, N. J. 1997. "Counterfactual thinking". Psychological bulletin. 121(1): 133.
- Rossi, S. and F. Cervone. 2016. "Social Utilities and Personality Traits for Group Recommendation: A Pilot User Study". In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence (ICAART 2016), Volume 1, Rome, Italy, February 24-26, 2016. Ed. by H. J. van den Herik and J. Filipe. Rome, Italy: SciTePress. 38–46.
- Russell, J. A. 1980. "A Circumplex Model of Affect". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. 39(6): 1161–1178.
- Rutledge-Taylor, M. F. and R. L. West. 2007. "MALTA: Enhancing ACT-R with a Holographic Persistent Knowledge Store". In: *Proceedings* of the Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society. 1433–1438.
- Rutledge-Taylor, M. F., A. Vellino, and R. L. West. 2008. "A holographic associative memory recommender system". In: 2008 Third International Conference on Digital Information Management. 87– 92. DOI: 10.1109/ICDIM.2008.4746700.
- Saari, T., N. Ravaja, J. Laarni, and M. Turpeinen. 2005. "Towards emotionally adapted games based on user controlled emotion knobs". In: Proceedings of DiGRA 2005 Conference. Burnaby, BC, Canada: Simon Fraser University.

- Saari, T., N. Ravaja, J. Laarni, K. Kallinen, and M. Turpeinen. 2004a. "Towards emotionally adapted Games". *Proceedings of Presence*. 13(15.10): 2004.
- Saari, T., N. Ravaja, J. Laarni, M. Turpeinen, and K. Kallinen. 2004b. "Psychologically targeted persuasive advertising and product information in e-commerce". In: *Proceedings of the 6th international* conference on Electronic commerce. 245–254.
- Sabater-mir, J., J. Cuadros, and P. Garcia. 2013. "Towards a framework that allows using a cognitive architecture to personalize recommendations in e-commerce". In: 11th European Workshop on Multi-Agent Systems. 3–17.
- Sarwar, B., G. Karypis, J. Konstan, and J. Riedl. 2001. "Item-based collaborative filtering recommendation algorithms". In: *Proceedings* of the 10th international conference on World Wide Web. 285–295.
- Schafer, J. B., D. Frankowski, J. Herlocker, and S. Sen. 2007. "Collaborative filtering recommender systems". In: *The adaptive web*. Springer. 291–324.
- Schäfer, T. 2016. "The Goals and Effects of Music Listening and Their Relationship to the Strength of Music Preference". *PLOS ONE*. 11(3): 1–15. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151634. URL: https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151634.
- Schedl, M. 2019. "Deep Learning in Music Recommendation Systems". Frontiers in Applied Mathematics and Statistics. 5: 44. ISSN: 2297-4687. DOI: 10.3389/fams.2019.00044. URL: https://www.frontiersin. org/article/10.3389/fams.2019.00044.
- Schedl, M., E. Gómez, E. Trent, M. Tkalčič, H. Eghbal-Zadeh, and A. Martorell. 2018. "On the Interrelation between Listener Characteristics and the Perception of Emotions in Classical Orchestra Music". *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*. 9(4): 507–525. ISSN: 1949-3045. DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2017.2663421.
- Schmuckler, M. A. 2001. "What is ecological validity? A dimensional analysis". Infancy. 2(4): 419–436.

- Schnabel, T., P. N. Bennett, S. T. Dumais, and T. Joachims. 2016.
 "Using Shortlists to Support Decision Making and Improve Recommender System Performance". In: Proceedings of the 25th International Conference on World Wide Web. WWW '16. Montréal, Québec, Canada: International World Wide Web Conferences Steering Committee. 987–997. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4143-1. DOI: 10.1145/2872427.2883012. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/2872427.2883012.
- Schneider, C., M. Weinmann, and J. Vom Brocke. 2018. "Digital nudging: guiding online user choices through interface design". *Communica*tions of the ACM. 61(7): 67–73.
- Schwind, C. and J. Buder. 2014. "The case for preference-inconsistent recommendations". In: *Recommender Systems for Technology En*hanced Learning. Springer. 145–157.
- Schwind, C., J. Buder, and F. W. Hesse. 2011. "I will do it, but i don't like it: user reactions to preference-inconsistent recommendations".
 In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 349–352.
- Seitlinger, P., D. Kowald, C. Trattner, and T. Ley. 2013. "Recommending tags with a model of human categorization". In: Proceedings of the 22nd ACM international conference on Information & Knowledge Management. ACM. 2381–2386.
- Seitlinger, P. and T. Ley. 2016. "Reconceptualizing Imitation in Social Tagging: A Reflective Search Model of Human Web Interaction". In: *Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Web Science. WebSci* '16. Hannover, Germany: ACM. 146–155. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4208-7. DOI: 10.1145/2908131.2908157. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2908131.2908157.
- Sen, A. 1986. "Social choice theory". Handbook of mathematical economics. 3: 1073–1181.
- Sertkan, M., J. Neidhardt, and H. Werthner. 2019. "What is the "Personality" of a tourism destination?" Information Technology & Tourism. 21(1): 105–133.
- Shani, G. and A. Gunawardana. 2011. "Evaluating recommendation systems". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Springer. 257–297.

- Sharma, R. and S. Ray. 2016. "Explanations in recommender systems: an overview". International Journal of Business Information Systems. 23(2): 248–262.
- Shin, D. 2020. "How do users interact with algorithm recommender systems? The interaction of users, algorithms, and performance". *Computers in Human Behavior*. 109: 106344.
- Shiv, B. and A. Fedorikhin. 1999. "Heart and mind in conflict: The interplay of affect and cognition in consumer decision making". *Journal of consumer Research*. 26(3): 278–292.
- Simon, H. A. 1966. "Theories of decision-making in economics and behavioural science". In: Surveys of economic theory. Springer. 1– 28.
- Sinha, R. R., K. Swearingen, *et al.* 2001. "Comparing recommendations made by online systems and friends." *DELOS*. 106.
- Smids, J. 2012. "The voluntariness of persuasive technology". In: International Conference on Persuasive Technology. Springer. 123– 132.
- Stanley, C. and M. D. Byrne. 2016. "Comparing Vector-Based and Bayesian Memory Models Using Large-Scale Datasets: User-Generated Hashtag and Tag Prediction on Twitter and Stack Overflow". *Psychological Methods*. 21(4): 542–565.
- Stanovich, K. E. and R. F. West. 1998. "Individual differences in rational thought." *Journal of experimental psychology: general.* 127(2): 161.
- Starke, A. D., M. C. Willemsen, and C. Snijders. 2020. "With a little help from my peers: Depicting social norms in a recommender interface to promote energy conservation". In: *Proceedings of the* 25th International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces. 568– 578.
- Stettinger, M., A. Felfernig, G. Leitner, and S. Reiterer. 2015a. "Counteracting Anchoring Effects in Group Decision Making". In: 23rd Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization (UMAP'15) (UMAP Best Papers 2015). Vol. 9146. LNCS. Springer. 118–130.

- Stettinger, M., A. Felfernig, G. Leitner, S. Reiterer, and M. Jeran. 2015b. "Counteracting Serial Position Effects in the CHOICLA Group Decision Support Environment". In: International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces, Proceedings IUI. Vol. 2015. 148–157. DOI: 10.1145/2678025.2701391.
- Stewart, B. 2011. "Personality and play styles: A unified model". *Gamasutra, September.* 1.
- Sunstein, C. R. 2015. "The ethics of nudging". Yale J. on Reg. 32: 413.
- Surendren, D. and V. Bhuvaneswari. 2014. "A framework for analysis of purchase dissonance in recommender system using association rule mining". In: 2014 International Conference on Intelligent Computing Applications. IEEE. 153–157.
- Swearingen, K. and R. Sinha. 2002. "Interaction design for recommender systems". In: *Designing Interactive Systems*. Vol. 6. No. 12. Citeseer. 312–334.
- Teppan, E. and A. Felfernig. 2012. "Minimization of Decoy Effects in Recommender Result Sets". Web Intelligence and Agent Systems. 1(4): 385–395.
- Teppan, E. C. and A. Felfernig. 2009a. "Calculating decoy items in utility-based recommendation". In: International Conference on Industrial, Engineering and Other Applications of Applied Intelligent Systems. Springer. 183–192.
- Teppan, E. C. and A. Felfernig. 2009b. "Impacts of decoy elements on result set evaluations in knowledge-based recommendation". International Journal of Advanced Intelligence Paradigms. 1(3): 358– 373.
- Teppan, E. C. and M. Zanker. 2015. "Decision biases in recommender systems". Journal of Internet Commerce. 14(2): 255–275.
- Thaker, K., Y. Huang, P. Brusilovsky, and H. Daqing. 2018. "Dynamic knowledge modeling with heterogeneous activities for adaptive textbooks". In: *The 11th International Conference on Educational Data Mining.* 592–595.
- Thaler, R. 1980. "Toward a positive theory of consumer choice". Journal of economic behavior & organization. 1(1): 39–60.
- Thaler, R. H. and C. R. Sunstein. 2009. Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Penguin.

- Thaler, R. H., C. R. Sunstein, and J. P. Balz. 2013. "Choice architecture". The behavioral foundations of public policy: 428–439.
- Thomas, K. W. and R. H. Kilmann. 1974. Thomas-Kilmann Conflict Mode Instrument. PO Box 10096, California, USA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Thomas, K. W. 1992. "Conflict and conflict management: Reflections and update". *Journal of organizational behavior*: 265–274.
- Tintarev, N., M. Dennis, and J. Masthoff. 2013. "Adapting Recommendation Diversity to Openness to Experience: A Study of Human Behaviour". In: User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization. Ed. by S. Carberry, S. Weibelzahl, A. Micarelli, and G. Semeraro. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. 190–202. ISBN: 978-3-642-38844-6.
- Tintarev, N. and J. Masthoff. 2012. "Evaluating the effectiveness of explanations for recommender systems". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 22(4-5): 399–439.
- Tintarev, N. and J. Masthoff. 2015. "Explaining recommendations: Design and evaluation". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Springer. 353–382.
- Tkalcic, M. and L. Chen. 2015a. "Personality and Recommender Systems". In: *Recommender Systems Handbook*. Ed. by F. Ricci, L. Rokach, and B. Shapira. Springer. 715–739. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4899-7637-6_21. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-7637-6%5C_21.
- Tkalcic, M. and L. Chen. 2015b. "Personality and recommender systems". In: *Recommender systems handbook*. Springer. 715–739.
- Tkalcic, M., A. Kosir, and J. Tasic. 2011. "Affective recommender systems: the role of emotions in recommender systems". In: Proceedings of the RecSys 2011 Workshop on Human Decision Making in Recommender Systems and User-Centric Evaluation of Recommender Systems and Their Interfaces. Citeseer. 9–13.
- Tran, T. N. T., M. Atas, V. M. Le, R. Samer, and M. Stettinger. 2020."Social Choice-based Explanations: An Approach to Enhancing Fairness and Consensus Aspects." J. UCS. 26(3): 402–431.

- Tran, T. N. T., M. Atas, A. Felfernig, V. M. Le, R. Samer, and M. Stettinger. 2019a. "Towards social choice-based explanations in group recommender systems". In: Proceedings of the 27th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. 13–21.
- Tran, T. N. T., M. Atas, A. Felfernig, R. Samer, and M. Stettinger. 2018. "Investigating Serial Position Effects in Sequential Group Decision Making". In: Proceedings of the 26th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. 239–243.
- Tran, T. N. T., A. Felfernig, V. M. Le, M. Atas, M. Stettinger, and R. Samer. 2019b. "User Interfaces for Counteracting Decision Manipulation in Group Recommender Systems". In: Adjunct Publication of the 27th Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization. 93–98.
- Trattner, C., D. Kowald, P. Seitlinger, S. Kopeinik, and T. Ley. 2016. "Modeling activation processes in human memory to predict the reuse of tags". *The Journal of Web Science*. 2.
- Turland, J., L. Coventry, D. Jeske, P. Briggs, and A. van Moorsel. 2015. "Nudging towards security: Developing an application for wireless network selection for android phones". In: *Proceedings of the 2015 British HCI conference*. 193–201.
- Turpeinen, M. and T. Saari. 2004. "System architecture for psychological customization of communication technology". In: 37th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2004. Proceedings of the. IEEE. 10–pp.
- Tversky, A. 1977. "Features of similarity." Psychological review. 84(4): 327.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman. 1974. "Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases". *science*. 185(4157): 1124–1131.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman. 1981. "The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice". *science*. 211(4481): 453–458.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman. 1992. "Advances in prospect theory: Cumulative representation of uncertainty". Journal of Risk and uncertainty. 5(4): 297–323.
- Ullman, J. B. and P. M. Bentler. 2003. "Structural equation modeling". Handbook of psychology: 607–634.

- Wang, C.-S. and H.-L. Yang. 2012. "A recommender mechanism based on case-based reasoning". *Expert Systems with Applications*. 39(4): 4335–4343.
- Wang, S., K. Kirillova, and X. Lehto. 2017. "Reconciling unsatisfying tourism experiences: Message type effectiveness and the role of counterfactual thinking". *Tourism Management*. 60: 233–243.
- Waugh, N. C. and D. A. Norman. 1965. "Primary memory." Psychological review. 72(2): 89.
- Willemsen, M. C., M. P. Graus, and B. P. Knijnenburg. 2016. "Understanding the role of latent feature diversification on choice difficulty and satisfaction". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 26(4): 347–389.
- Wu, W., L. Chen, and L. He. 2013. "Using Personality to Adjust Diversity in Recommender Systems". In: Proceedings of the 24th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media. HT '13. Paris, France: ACM. 225–229. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1967-6. DOI: 10.1145/2481492.2481521. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2481492.2481521.
- Wu, W., L. Chen, Q. Yang, and Y. Li. 2019. "Inferring Students' Personality from Their Communication Behavior in Web-based Learning Systems". International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education. 29(2): 189–216.
- Wu, W., L. Chen, and Y. Zhao. 2018. "Personalizing recommendation diversity based on user personality". User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction. 28(3): 237–276. ISSN: 1573-1391. DOI: 10.1007/s11257-018-9205-x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11257-018-9205-x.
- Xiao, B. and I. Benbasat. 2007. "E-commerce product recommendation agents: Use, characteristics, and impact". *MIS quarterly*: 137–209.
- Xu, J., X. He, and H. Li. 2020. "Deep Learning for Matching in Search and Recommendation". Foundations and Trends® in Information Retrieval. 14(2–3): 102–288. ISSN: 1554-0669. DOI: 10. 1561/1500000076. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1561/1500000076.
- Yago, H., J. Clemente, and D. Rodriguez. 2018. "Competence-based recommender systems: a systematic literature review". *Behaviour & Information Technology*. 37(10-11): 958–977.

- Yang, H.-L. and C.-S. Wang. 2009. "Recommender system for software project planning one application of revised CBR algorithm". *Expert* Systems with Applications. 36(5): 8938–8945.
- Yang, H.-C. and Z.-R. Huang. 2019. "Mining personality traits from social messages for game recommender systems". *Knowledge-Based Systems.* 165: 157–168. ISSN: 0950-7051. DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.knosys.2018.11.025. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S095070511830577X.
- Yang, Z., J. He, and S. He. 2019. "A collaborative filtering method based on forgetting theory and neural item embedding". In: 2019 IEEE 8th Joint International Information Technology and Artificial Intelligence Conference (ITAIC). IEEE. 1606–1610.
- Yannakakis, G. N. and J. Hallam. 2011. "Ranking vs. preference: a comparative study of self-reporting". In: International conference on affective computing and intelligent interaction. Springer. 437–446.
- Yoo, K.-H. and U. Gretzel. 2011. "Creating more credible and persuasive recommender systems: The influence of source characteristics on recommender system evaluations". In: *Recommender systems* handbook. Springer. 455–477.
- Yoo, K.-H., U. Gretzel, and M. Zanker. 2012. *Persuasive recommender* systems: conceptual background and implications. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Yu, H. and Z. Li. 2010. "A collaborative filtering method based on the forgetting curve". In: 2010 International Conference on Web Information Systems and Mining. Vol. 1. IEEE. 183–187.
- Zajonc, R. B. 1968. "Attitudinal effects of mere exposure." Journal of personality and social psychology. 9(2p2): 1.
- Zhang, J. 2011. "Anchoring effects of recommender systems". In: Proceedings of the fifth ACM conference on Recommender systems. 375– 378.
- Zhang, S., L. Yao, A. Sun, and Y. Tay. 2019a. "Deep Learning Based Recommender System". ACM Computing Surveys. 52(1): 1–38. ISSN: 0360-0300. DOI: 10.1145/3285029. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/ 3285029.

- Zhang, S., L. Yao, A. Sun, and Y. Tay. 2019b. "Deep learning based recommender system: A survey and new perspectives". ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR). 52(1): 1–38.
- Zhang, Y., X. Chen, et al. 2020. "Explainable Recommendation: A Survey and New Perspectives". Foundations and Trends[®] in Information Retrieval. 14(1): 1–101.
- Zhao, L., J. Huang, and N. Zhong. 2014. "A Context-Aware Recommender System with a Cognition Inspired Model". In: *Rough Sets* and Knowledge Technology. Cham: Springer International Publishing. 613–622. ISBN: 978-3-319-11740-9.
- Zheng, L., C.-T. Lu, L. He, S. Xie, H. He, C. Li, V. Noroozi, B. Dong, and S. Y. Philip. 2019. "MARS: Memory attention-aware recommender system". In: 2019 IEEE International Conference on Data Science and Advanced Analytics (DSAA). IEEE. 11–20.
- Zheng, Y. 2013. "The Role of Emotions in Context-aware Recommendation". In: *Decisions@RecSys.* 21–28.
- Ziegler, C.-N., S. M. McNee, J. A. Konstan, and G. Lausen. 2005. "Improving recommendation lists through topic diversification". In: *Proceedings of the 14th international conference on World Wide Web*. 22–32.
- Zimmerman, S., A. Thorpe, J. Chamberlain, and U. Kruschwitz. 2020. "Towards search strategies for better privacy and information". In: Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Human Information Interaction and Retrieval. 124–134.